# FREE OUTER FUNCTIONS IN COMPLETE PICK SPACES

# ALEXANDRU ALEMAN, MICHAEL HARTZ, JOHN E. M $^{\rm C}$ CARTHY, AND STEFAN RICHTER

ABSTRACT. Jury and Martin establish an analogue of the classical inner-outer factorization of Hardy space functions. They show that every function f in a Hilbert function space with a normalized complete Pick reproducing kernel has a factorization of the type  $f = \varphi g$ , where g is cyclic,  $\varphi$  is a contractive multiplier, and  $\|f\| = \|g\|$ . In this paper we show that if the cyclic factor is assumed to be what we call free outer, then the factors are essentially unique, and we give a characterization of the factors that is intrinsic to the space. That lets us compute examples. We also provide several applications of this factorization.

#### CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Free holomorphic functions and the free Fock space	13
3.	The free Sarason functions	20
4.	A closer look at the free inner-outer factorization	22
5.	*-invariant subspaces of $\mathcal{H}_d^2$	25
6.	Normalized complete Pick spaces	28
7.	The Sarason function	31
8.	Approximation by subinner functions	34
9.	Solutions to extremal Pick problems	37
10.	The Dirichlet space	38
11.	The Drury-Arveson space	42
12.	Common free outer factors	45

Date: December 11, 2022.

 $<sup>2010\</sup> Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification.$  Primary: 46E22; Secondary: 47A16, 47B32.

 $<sup>\</sup>it Key~words~and~phrases.$  Reproducing kernel Hilbert space, inner-outer factorization.

M.H. was partially supported by a GIF grant and by the Emmy Noether Program of the German Research Foundation (DFG Grant 466012782).

 $<sup>\</sup>rm J.M.$  was partially supported by National Science Foundation Grant DMS 2054199.

13.	Weak products	50
14.	Subinner functions in weighted Dirichlet spaces	5.
References		60

## 1. Introduction

Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert function space on a non-empty set X with reproducing kernel k, i.e.  $f(x) = \langle f, k_x \rangle$  holds for every  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $x \in X$ . We will always assume that Hilbert function spaces are separable. We write

$$\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}) = \{ \varphi : X \to \mathbb{C} : \varphi f \in \mathcal{H} \text{ for all } f \in \mathcal{H} \}$$

for the multiplier algebra of  $\mathcal{H}$ . It is well-known that every multiplier  $\varphi$  defines a bounded linear operator  $M_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  by  $M_{\varphi}f = \varphi f$ . Assuming  $\mathcal{H}$  has no common zeros, setting  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = \|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}$  makes  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  into a Banach algebra. If  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ , then we will write [f] for the multiplier invariant subspace generated by f, i.e. the closure of  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})f$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ . A function f is called cyclic, if  $[f] = \mathcal{H}$ . Important examples of Hilbert function spaces on the open unit disc  $\mathbb{D}$  are the Hardy space  $H^2(\mathbb{D})$  of analytic functions on  $\mathbb{D}$  with square summable power series coefficients, the Bergman space  $L_a^2$  of square area-integrable analytic functions on  $\mathbb{D}$ , and the Dirichlet space D of analytic functions f whose derivative  $f' \in L_a^2$ .

In [3] the classical inner-outer factorization of Hardy space functions was generalized to the Bergman space setting.

**Definition 1.1.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert function space on X, let  $z_0 \in X$ , and assume that  $k_{z_0} = 1$ . A function  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  is called  $\mathcal{H}$ -extremal, if  $\langle \varphi f, f \rangle = \varphi(z_0)$  for all  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

It is well-known and easy to check that if  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $h(z_0) \neq 0$ , then the solutions to

$$\sup\{|f(z_0)|: f \in [h], ||f|| \le 1\}$$

are  $\mathcal{H}$ -extremal. For  $H^2(\mathbb{D}), L_a^2$ , and D we take  $z_0=0$ . It is clear that the  $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ -extremal functions are the classical inner functions, which are those  $\varphi \in H^\infty(\mathbb{D})$  whose radial limit functions satisfy  $|\varphi(z)|=1$  for a.e. |z|=1.  $L_a^2$ -extremal functions (resp. D-extremal functions) have also been called  $L_a^2$ -inner (resp. D-inner). The following type of inner-outer factorization was proved for the Bergman space in [3].

**Theorem.** For each non-zero  $f \in L_a^2$  there is a unique pair of functions  $\varphi, h \in L_a^2$  such that

- (i)  $f = \varphi h$

- (iv)  $[f] = [\varphi]$ .

Furthermore,  $f/\varphi \in L_a^2$  and the contractive divisor property  $||p_{\varphi}^f|| \le$ ||pf|| holds for all polynomials p.

Borichev and Hedenmalm proved that conditions (i),(ii), and (iii) in general do not determine  $\varphi$  and h uniquely, [13]. For more information about Bergman spaces we refer the reader to the monographs [33] and [23].

Theorems similar to the above Theorem are known to hold for certain weighted Bergman spaces, see [63], [34], [42]. For the Dirichlet space D extremal functions  $\varphi$  were shown to have several nice properties: their derivatives are in the Nevanlinna class,  $(z\varphi)'$  has a meromorphic pseudocontinuation in the exterior disc, and  $\varphi$  is a contractive multiplier, [55]. In particular, by use of the contractive multiplier property, it is elementary to show that in the case of the Dirichlet space conditions (i),(ii), and (iii) of the above Theorem imply condition (iv). However, in Theorem 10.1 we will show that there are functions f in D that are not of the form  $f = \varphi h$  for  $\varphi, h \in D$  with  $\varphi$  D-extremal and h cyclic in D. In [37] and [36] Jury and Martin observe that results of Arias-Popescu and Davidson-Pitts ([11], [22]) lead to a factorization of Dirichlet functions of the type as in the above Theorem (i)-(iii), except that instead of extremal functions one has to allow a larger class of contractive multipliers  $\varphi$ . Jury and Martin started by proving results for the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$ , but then they also establish their results for all spaces with complete Pick kernel and this includes the Dirichlet space (definitions below).

In this paper we will work in the context of all spaces with complete Pick kernels, and we will call the Jury-Martin contractive multipliers subinner. Furthermore, we will show that one obtains a unique factorization, if one restricts the cyclic factors to a class of functions that we will call the free outer functions. We will also characterize the subinner and the free outer functions in terms of the space  $\mathcal{H}$ . This will allow us to compute examples and give some applications.

From now on let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a separable Hilbert function space on a set X whose reproducing kernel k is a complete Pick kernel that is normalized at some point  $z_0 \in X$ . That means that  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle u(z), u(w) \rangle_K}$ , where uis a function from X into the open unit ball of an auxiliary separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$  with  $u(z_0) = 0$ . Important examples of such spaces on the unit disc  $\mathbb{D}$  are the Hardy space  $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ , where  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1-\overline{w}z}$ ,

and the Dirichlet space D with reproducing kernel  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{\overline{w}z} \log \frac{1}{1-\overline{w}z}$ ([2], Corollary 7.41). The Bergman space  $L_a^2$  has reproducing kernel  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{(1-\overline{w}z)^2}$ , which is not a complete Pick kernel. Examples of spaces of multivariable functions with complete Pick kernels are the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$  of analytic functions on the unit ball  $\mathbb{B}_d$  of  $\mathbb{C}^d$ , if  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^d}}$ , and  $H_\infty^2$  the space of functions on the unit ball  $\mathbb{B}_{\infty}$  of  $\ell^2$  with reproducing kernel  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle z, w \rangle_{\ell^2}}$ . In the following, when we refer to  ${\cal H}_d^2$  we will usually mean to refer to all cases  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}.$ 

It is known that it follows from the complete Pick property that  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  has a predual with the property that point evaluations on  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  are weak\*-continuous and that it has property  $A_1(1)$ , i.e. for every weak\*-continuous linear functional L on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  with norm ||L|| <1, there are  $f,g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $||f|| ||g|| \leq 1$  and  $L(M_{\varphi}) = \langle \varphi f, g \rangle$ for all  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , see [20], and also see Section 12 for a proof phrased in terms of the concepts of this paper. We say that a weak\*continuous linear functional on  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  is a vector state, if it is of the form  $P_f(\varphi) = \langle \varphi f, f \rangle$  for some  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ .

It is clear that it may happen that  $P_f = P_g$  even for  $f \neq g$ . For example, if  $\mathcal{H} = H^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then one easily checks that  $P_f = P_g$  if and only if |f| = |g| a.e. on  $\partial \mathbb{D}$ , i.e. if and only if f and g have the same outer factor. We will use these vector states to partition  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e. for  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  we set

$$\mathcal{E}_f = \{ g \in \mathcal{H} : P_f = P_g \}.$$

Note that because of the normalization at the point  $z_0 \in X$  we have  $k_{z_0} = 1$  and hence  $P_1(\varphi) = \varphi(z_0)$ . Thus, we observe

$$\mathcal{E}_1 = \{ f \in \mathcal{H} : f \text{ is } \mathcal{H}\text{-extremal} \}.$$

Hence if  $\mathcal{H} = H^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then  $\mathcal{E}_1$  equals the set of the classical inner functions.

**Definition 1.2.** (a) A function  $f \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$  is called free outer, if  $|f(z_0)| = \sup\{|g(z_0)| : g \in \mathcal{E}_f\}.$ 

$$\in$$
 Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ) is called subinner, if  $\|\varphi\|_{M_{\bullet},\mu_{1/2}}$ 

- (b) A multiplier  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  is called subinner, if  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$  and if there is  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $h \neq 0$  with  $\|\varphi h\| = \|h\|$ .
- (c) A pair  $(\varphi, f)$  is called a subinner/free outer pair, if  $\varphi$  is subinner, f is free outer with  $f(z_0) > 0$ , and  $\|\varphi f\| = \|f\|$ .

If  $\mathcal{H} = H^2(\mathbb{D})$ , then one easily checks that the free outer functions are just the outer functions and the subinner functions are the classical inner functions. In the generality of all normalized complete Pick spaces

it is known that extremal functions  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  are multipliers of unit norm, i.e  $||f||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = ||f||_{\mathcal{H}} = 1$ . If  $f(z_0) \neq 0$ , then this can be derived from the main result of [43]. For the general case and an explicit proof see Corollary 4.2 of [5], and it also follows from our Theorem 1.4.

It follows that every extremal function is subinner, but we will see that in general the collection of subinner functions is strictly larger than the collection of extremal functions. On the other hand, in Corollary 1.8 we will show that subinner functions are always extreme points of the unit ball of  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$ .

It is known that the extreme points of the unit ball of  $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  properly contain the classical inner functions. Hence in general there may be extreme points of the unit ball of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  that are not subinner. Nevertheless, for the Dirichlet space  $D = \mathcal{H}$  (and also for certain weighted Dirichlet spaces) we will in Section 14 present a condition which implies that in  $\mathcal{H}$  a function that is sufficiently regular in  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$  is subinner, if and only if it has multiplier norm 1 (and hence this happens if and only if such a function is an extreme point of the unit ball of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ ), see Theorem 14.9. We note that no such theorem can hold in  $H_d^2$ . Indeed, the function  $\varphi(z) = (1+z_1)/2$  is a very regular function of  $H_d^2$ -multiplier norm one, and it can be seen to not be subinner.

The important connection between subinner functions and the partition used to define free outer functions becomes apparent by use of an elementary Lemma, which we state explicitly, so that we can refer to it later. It is a direct consequence of the equality case in the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality.

**Lemma 1.3.** Let K, L be Hilbert spaces and  $T \in \mathcal{B}(K, L)$  with  $||T|| \leq 1$ . If  $x \in K$  with ||Tx|| = ||x||, then  $T^*Tx = x$ .

We apply this with  $T = M_{\varphi}$  for a subinner function  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  and an associated  $h \in \mathcal{H}, h \neq 0$  with  $\|\varphi h\| = \|h\|$ . Then  $M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi} h = h$ , and hence for all  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  we have

$$P_{\varphi h}(\psi) = \langle \psi \varphi h, \varphi h \rangle = \langle \psi h, M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi} h \rangle = P_h(\psi).$$

Thus  $\mathcal{E}_{\varphi h} = \mathcal{E}_h$ .

It is not immediately clear that free outer functions exist, much less that one is contained in each set  $\mathcal{E}_f$ . But that will be one of our main results.

**Theorem 1.4.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel. Then for every  $f \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$  there is a unique subinner/free outer pair  $(\varphi, h)$  such that  $f = \varphi h$ .

We will prove this in Section 6. In the following we will refer to h as the free outer factor of f and  $\varphi$  as the subinner factor of f. In Theorem

12.1 we will provide a vector version of this theorem. It will imply that any square summable sequence of functions in  $\mathcal{H}$  has a common free outer factor.

As mentioned before, the factorization is the same as the one given by Jury and Martin in [37, 36]. We will give complete details later, but it is known that there is a natural embedding of  $\mathcal{H}$  in the free Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  for some  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and that for functions in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  there is a free inner-outer factorization ([11], [22]). It is thus clear that this free inner-outer factorization applies to functions in the embedded spaces  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . The factorization of Theorem 1.4 is just that factorization from the free setting, and the novelty here is the uniqueness and the observation that the factors can be described intrinsically in terms of the space  $\mathcal{H}$ . We will see in Theorem 6.2 that a multiplier is subinner, if and only if it has a lift to an isometric left multiplier on  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  whose range in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  has nontrivial intersection with the embedded version of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Such a lift is necessarily unique. Furthermore, a function in  $\mathcal{H}$  is free outer, if and only if its image under the embedding in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  is left-(respectively right-) outer (see Theorem 5.3 and Lemma 6.1). We also note that the defining property of free outer functions is inspired by Theorem 2.3 of [48] and Proposition 2.5 of [22].

By the observation before Theorem 1.4, if  $f = \varphi h$  is a subinner/free outer factorization, then  $\mathcal{E}_f = \mathcal{E}_h$ , and it follows that each equivalence class  $\mathcal{E}_f$  contains a free outer function. It turns out to be unique up to a constant factor of modulus 1.

**Theorem 1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel. If  $f, g \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$ , then  $P_f = P_g$  if and only if f and g have the same free outer factors.

This will be proved in Section 6. We will see that free outer functions are always cyclic vectors in  $\mathcal{H}$  (see Theorem 6.3). This easily implies that  $[f] = [\varphi]$ , whenever  $\varphi$  is the subinner factor of f. However, we will show by example that in the Dirichlet space D and in the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$ ,  $d \geq 2$ , there are cyclic functions that are not free outer (Examples 10.3 and 11.1). This implies that in these spaces there are cyclic, non-constant subinner functions. For the Dirichlet space we will even exhibit non-constant functions that are simultaneously subinner and free outer (see the remark following Theorem 14.9).

**Corollary 1.6.** Let  $h \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) h is free outer,
- (b) there is  $z \in X$  with  $|h(z)| = \sup\{|f(z)| : f \in \mathcal{E}_h\}$ ,
- (c) for all  $z \in X$  we have  $|h(z)| = \sup\{|f(z)| : f \in \mathcal{E}_h\}$ .

If  $\mathcal{H}$  does not admit any non-constant isometric multipliers, then the three conditions above are also equivalent to

(d) 
$$\|\psi f\| \leq \|\psi h\|$$
 for all  $f \in \mathcal{E}_h$  and  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ ,

We note that many spaces including the Dirichlet space D and the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$  for  $d \geq 2$  satisfy the hypothesis of item (d) of this corollary. For  $H_d^2$ , this is Proposition 8.36 in [2], and the statement about D also follows from a computation with power series.

*Proof.* The previous two Theorems imply that if h is free outer, then each  $f \in \mathcal{E}_h$  has the form  $f = \varphi h$  for a contractive multiplier  $\varphi$ . This shows the implications (a)  $\Rightarrow$  (c) and (a)  $\Rightarrow$  (d). The implication (c)  $\Rightarrow$  (b) is trivial. The implication (b)  $\Rightarrow$  (a) follows from the existence of the subinner/free outer factorization and the fact that a non-constant contractive multiplier  $\varphi$  must satisfy  $|\varphi(z)| < 1$  for each  $z \in X$ , see Lemma 2.2 of [4].

We will now prove (d)  $\Rightarrow$  (a). Suppose  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfies that  $||\psi f|| \leq ||\psi h||$  for all  $f \in \mathcal{E}_h$  and all  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Let  $h = \varphi g$  be the subinner/free outer factorization of h, then for all  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  we have

$$\|\psi g\| \le \|\psi h\| = \|\psi \varphi g\| \le \|\psi g\|.$$

Thus  $\|\varphi(\psi g)\| = \|\psi g\|$  for all  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Now since the free outer function g is cyclic in  $\mathcal{H}$  it follows that  $M_{\varphi}$  is an isometry on  $\mathcal{H}$ , and hence by hypothesis  $\varphi$  must be constant, hence h is free outer.

Corollary 1.7. If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  is subinner, then there is a free outer function f with  $\|\varphi f\| = \|f\| \neq 0$ .

Proof. Since  $\varphi$  is subinner, there is a non-zero  $g \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $\|\varphi g\| = \|g\|$ . Let  $g = \psi f$  be the subinner/free outer factorization of g, then  $\|f\| = \|\psi f\| = \|\varphi \psi f\| \le \|\varphi f\| \le \|f\|$ . Hence  $\|\varphi f\| = \|f\| \ne 0$  and f is free outer.

Corollary 1.8. If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  is subinner, then  $\varphi$  is an extreme point of the unit ball of  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

Proof. Let  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  be subinner. By Corollary 1.7 there is a free outer function f such that  $\|\varphi f\| = \|f\| \neq 0$ . Since free outer functions are cyclic we have  $f(z) \neq 0$  for all z, hence if  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $h \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \varphi h \\ \psi h \end{pmatrix}$  is contractive  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}$ , then  $\|\psi f\| = 0$  and hence  $\psi = 0$ .

Thus,  $\varphi$  is what has been called column extreme, and as has been noted by Jury and Martin, column extreme multipliers are extreme points of the unit ball of Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ), see the proof of Corollary 1.2 of [35].

At this point we remark (although it is not necessary for our proofs) that the second named author recently showed that for complete Pick spaces the exreme points of the unit ball of  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  consist precisely of the column extreme multipliers, [31, Theorem 1.6].

In Sections 10 and 11 we have calculated some examples of subinner/free outer factorizations in the Dirichlet and Drury-Arveson spaces. For example, we will show that the product of two free outer functions in  $H_d^2$  may not be free outer, see Example 11.2.

We now present a general observation about examples. Note that if  $f = \varphi h$  is a subinner/free outer factorization, then  $M_{\varphi}^* f = h$  by Lemma 1.3, and hence the free outer factor of f is contained in the \*-invariant subspace generated by f:

$$h \in [f]_* = \operatorname{clos}\{M_{\psi}^* f : \psi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})\}.$$

So for example, if f is a finite linear combination of reproducing kernels, then its free outer factor is a linear combination of the same reproducing kernels and hence the subinner factor is a ratio of two such expressions. In particular, we note that reproducing kernels must be free outer.

**Example 1.9.** If  $\mathcal{M}$  is any multiplier invariant subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\lambda$  is not a common zero of  $\mathcal{M}$ , then  $f = \frac{\|P_{\mathcal{M}}k_{\lambda}\|}{\|k_{\lambda}\|}k_{\lambda}$  is the free outer factor of  $g = P_{\mathcal{M}}k_{\lambda}$ .

Indeed, one verifies that  $P_f = P_g$ . Hence since f is a free outer function the statement follows from Theorem 1.5.

By a Theorem of McCullough and Trent ([43])  $P_{\mathcal{M}}$  can be associated with an inner sequence  $\{\varphi_n\}$  so that  $P_{\mathcal{M}} = \sum_{n\geq 0} M_{\varphi_n} M_{\varphi_n}^*$ , and hence  $P_{\mathcal{M}}k_{\lambda} = \sum_{n\geq 0} \overline{\varphi_n(\lambda)}\varphi_n k_{\lambda}$ . This implies that the subinner factor of  $P_{\mathcal{M}}k_{\lambda}$  is

$$\frac{\sum_{n\geq 0} \overline{\varphi_n(\lambda)} \varphi_n}{\sqrt{\sum_{n\geq 0} |\varphi_n(\lambda)|^2}}.$$

The sequence  $\varphi_n$  can also be used to give a representation of the subinner factor  $\varphi$  of an arbitrary function  $f \in \mathcal{M}$ . Indeed, if  $f \in \mathcal{M}$ , then  $f = P_{\mathcal{M}}f = \sum_{n\geq 0} \varphi_n M_{\varphi_n}^* f$ , where  $||f||^2 = \sum_{n\geq 0} ||M_{\varphi_n}^* f||^2$ . Then Theorem 12.1 implies that there is a free outer function g with  $||g||^2 = \sum_{n\geq 0} ||M_{\varphi_n}^* f||^2$ , and there are  $\psi_n \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $\sum_n ||\psi_n h||^2 \leq ||h||^2$  for all  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  and such that  $M_{\varphi_n}^* f = \psi_n g$  for each  $n \geq 0$ . Then  $f = \sum_{n\geq 0} \varphi_n \psi_n g$ , and the uniqueness of the subinner/free outer factorization implies that the subinner factor of f is  $\varphi = \sum_{n\geq 0} \varphi_n \psi_n$ .

We will now mention some applications of our results. A classical theorem of Caratheodory-Schur states that every function in the unit

ball of  $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a pointwise limit of a sequence of finite Blaschke products, see e.g. [28], Theorem 2.1. or [44], p. 36. In [64] Shimorin defined the class of subextremal functions for the Bergman space  $L_a^2$ , and he showed that every such function can be approximated by a pointwise limit of rational  $L_a^2$ -extremal functions. Since the subextremal functions contain the unit ball of  $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  we may consider this to be an analogue of the Caratheodory-Schur Theorem. On the other hand for the Dirichlet space it was shown in [39] that there are contractive multipliers of the Dirichlet space that are not a pointwise limit of a sequence of D-extremal functions. The subinner functions turn out to be solutions to extremal Pick problems (see Theorem 9.3), and hence they form a sufficiently rich class of functions to achieve such density.

**Theorem 1.10.** If  $\mathcal{H}$  is separable, infinite dimensional, and has a normalized complete Pick kernel k, then for every function  $\varphi$  in the unit ball of Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ), there is a sequence  $\{\varphi_n\}$  of subinner functions such that  $\varphi_n(x) \to \varphi(x)$  for every  $x \in X$ .

If  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \operatorname{Hol}(\mathbb{B}_d)$  for  $1 \leq d < \infty$  and the monomials  $\{z^{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^d}$  form an orthogonal basis for  $\mathcal{H}$  and are multipliers of  $\mathcal{H}$ , then the approximating subinner functions can be chosen to be rational functions.

We will prove this in Section 8. As a second application we state the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.11.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_k$  and  $\mathcal{H}_s$  be separable Hilbert function spaces on a set X such that s is a complete Pick kernel, which is normalized at  $z_0 \in X$ , and such that k/s is positive definite.

If  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k \setminus \{0\}$ , then there is a unique pair of functions  $\varphi \in$  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_s, \mathcal{H}_k)$  and  $g \in \mathcal{H}_s$  such that

- (i)  $f = \varphi g$ ,
- (ii)  $||f||_{\mathcal{H}_k} = ||g||_{\mathcal{H}_s}$ , (iii) g is free outer in  $\mathcal{H}_s$  with  $g(z_0) > 0$ ,
- (iv)  $\|\varphi\|_{\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_s,\mathcal{H}_k)} \leq 1$ .

The proof will use the vector version of Theorem 1.4, see Section 12. The factors in the above factorization have some special properties as compared to general functions in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ . In fact, functions in  $\mathcal{H}_s$  can be written as ratios of multipliers of  $\mathcal{H}_s$ , and contractive multipliers from  $\mathcal{H}_s$  to  $\mathcal{H}_k$  e.g. satisfy the pointwise estimate  $|\varphi(z)| \leq \frac{||k_z||}{||s_z||}$ , see [5], Section 4.

Theorem 1.11 applies for example to the situation where  $\mathcal{H}_k$  is the Hardy or Bergman space of  $\mathbb{B}_d$  and  $\mathcal{H}_s = H_d^2$ . In the case when d = 1one can give a direct proof of this result that is based on the sweep of a measure (as compared to the isometric dilation) and this argument extends to  $P^t(\mu)$ -spaces,  $1 \le t < \infty$ , see Theorem 12.5.

Another application concerns the weak product of the Hilbert function space  $\mathcal{H}$ . It is defined by

$$\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H} = \Big\{ \sum_{n \geq 1} f_n g_n : \sum_{n \geq 1} \|f_n\| \|g_n\| < \infty \Big\}.$$

 $\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}$  becomes a Banach space with norm

$$||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = \inf \Big\{ \sum_{n>1} ||f_n|| ||g_n|| : h = \sum_{n>1} f_n g_n \Big\}.$$

It is known that  $H^2(\partial \mathbb{B}_d) \odot H^2(\partial \mathbb{B}_d) = H^1(\partial \mathbb{B}_d)$  and there are similar results for Bergman spaces, see [17]. We think of  $\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}$  as an analogue of the space  $H^1$  for the general Hilbert function space. For further motivation and information about weak products we refer the reader to [10] and [56]. Also, see [7] for the particular cases where  $\mathcal{H}$  has a complete Pick kernel.

A combination of Theorem 1.3 of [36] and of Theorem 1.2 of [31] implies that if a Hilbert function space has a normalized complete Pick kernel, then for every  $h \in \mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}$ , there is a pair of functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that h = fg and  $||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = ||f|||g||$ . It turns out that subinner/free outer pairs are relevant in this context as well.

**Theorem 1.12.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel. If  $h \in \mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$ , then there exists a subinner/free outer pair  $(\varphi, f)$  with  $h = \varphi f^2$  and  $||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = ||f^2||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = ||f||^2$ .

Unfortunately, for general functions  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  we do not have a way to explicitly determine the free outer factor. In [5] the Sarason function

(1.1) 
$$V_f(z) = 2\langle f, k_z f \rangle - ||f||^2$$

was used to establish an explicit formula to write f as a ratio of two multipliers. Note that it was shown in [29] (also see Lemma 7.2) that for normalized complete Pick kernels for each  $z \in X$  the function  $k_z$  is a multiplier, thus the Sarason function is well-defined. If  $\mathcal{H} = H^2$  is the Hardy space of the unit disc, then

$$V_f(z) = \int_{|w|=1} \frac{w+z}{w-z} |f(w)|^2 \frac{|dw|}{2\pi},$$

and hence  $V_f$  determines the outer factor of f uniquely.

For the larger generality of all spaces with complete Pick kernel we mentioned above that two functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  have the same free outer

factor, whenever f and g define the same vector states  $P_f = P_g$  (Theorem 1.5). Thus, any function f has the same Sarason function as its free outer factor. Furthermore, in Section 3 we will define two natural extensions of  $V_f$ , the free Sarason functions  $V_F^r$  and  $V_F^\ell$ . They are free functions defined for functions F in the Fock space, and they uniquely determine the free outer factor of f, whenever F is the image of f under the Fock space embedding of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Thus, one may wonder whether  $V_f$  itself determines the free outer factor of f. For many spaces this is the case, and in those cases the Sarason function provides a convenient way to keep track of when vector states agree.

In order to state our result we recall notation regarding multinomials. If  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , then a multi-index  $\alpha$  is an element in  $\mathbb{N}_0^d$ ,  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d)$ , and  $|\alpha| = \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_j$ . If  $d = \infty$ , then a multi-index is a sequence of the form  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots)$  with  $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{N}_0$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $|\alpha| = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \alpha_j < \infty$ . We write  $\underline{0} = (0,0,\ldots)$  and  $I_{\infty}$  for the collection of all such multiindices. If  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then we will also write

$$I_n = \{ \alpha \in I_\infty : \alpha_j = 0 \text{ for all } j > n \}.$$

Note that  $I_{\infty}$  is a countably infinite set.

If  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and if  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , then the expressions  $z^{\alpha} = \prod_{j=1}^d z_j^{\alpha_j}$  and  $\alpha! = \prod_{i=1}^d \alpha_i!$  are well-defined for each  $\alpha \in I_d$ , because all products only have finitely many factors that are  $\neq 1$ .

**Theorem 1.13.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel on a set X, and let  $f, g \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$ .

If either

- (a)  $f, g \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  or
- (b)  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ ,  $X = \mathbb{B}_d$ ,  $k_w(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\alpha}$ , where each  $a_{\alpha} > 0$  and  $\sum_{\alpha \in I_d} a_{\alpha} |z^{\alpha}|^2 < \infty$  for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , then the following are equivalent:
  - (i) f and q have the same free outer factor,
  - $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(ii)} & P_f = P_g, \\ \text{(iii)} & V_f = V_g. \end{array}$

In particular, the theorem applies to  $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ , the Dirichlet space D, and the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$ . Note further that if X is finite, then every element of  $\mathcal{H}$  is a finite linear combination of reproducing kernels. Hence in that case all elements are multipliers and the theorem applies.

As far as we know, it is possible that the conclusion of the previous theorem is true for all complete Pick spaces. That would be the case, if the answer to the following question is positive.

**Question 1.14.** If  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel, then are finite linear combinations of the reproducing kernels weak\*-dense in Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ )?

One further situation, where we know the conclusion of the previous theorem holds is as follows.

**Theorem 1.15.** If  $X = \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, \dots\} \subseteq \mathbb{D}$  is a Blaschke sequence of distinct points with  $0 \in X$ , if  $\mathcal{H} = H^2(\mathbb{D})|X$ , then the linear combinations of reproducing kernels are weak\*-dense in Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ).

We will prove this in Section 7. By  $H^2(\mathbb{D})|X$  we mean the space

$$\{f:X\to\mathbb{C},\exists g\in H^2(\mathbb{D})\ f=g|X\}$$

with norm  $||f|| = \inf\{||g||_{H^2} : g \in H^2(\mathbb{D}) \ f = g|X\}$ . It is clear that this space is isomorphic to  $\bigvee_{\lambda \in X} \{\frac{1}{1-\overline{\lambda}z}\} \subseteq H^2(\mathbb{D})$ .

We now give an overview of the set-up for the remainder of the paper. Section 2 contains a review of the needed background about free analytic functions, the Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , and its distinguished subspace  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ , the symmetric Fock space. In Section 3 we define the free Sarason functions  $V_F^{\ell}$  and  $V_F^{r}$  and establish their basic properties. For functions  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  there is a close connection between  $V_F$  as defined in (1.1) and the free Sarason functions (see Lemma 3.3). Section 4 will start with a review of the free inner-outer factorization results of Arias-Popescu and Davidson-Pitts ([11, 22]). Then, in Sections 4 and 5 we will prove that the free Sarason functions determine the free left and right outer factors of  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , and that they provide a way to establish that for functions F in \*-invariant subspaces  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathcal{H}_d^2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_d^2$  their free left and right outer factors are determined by data that are available from within  $\mathcal{H}$  (see Theorem 4.6). These results are put together in Section 6 to prove Theorems 1.4 and 1.5. In Section 7 we will prove Theorems 1.13 and 1.15, which also imply that for many complete Pick spaces the Sarason function  $V_f$  uniquely determines the free Sarason functions  $V_F^r$  and  $V_F^\ell$ . In Sections 8 and 9 we establish a generalized version of Theorem 1.10 and we prove that solutions to extremal Pick problems are subinner. Sections 10 and 11 contain specific information and examples about the Dirichlet and Drury-Arveson spaces. For example, we will show that subinner functions  $\varphi$  for the Dirichlet space have the property that  $M_{\varphi}$ attains its norm only on a 1-dimensional subspace (Theorem 10.2). We will also see by example that products of free outer polynomials may or may not be free outer. Furthermore, we will show that free outer polynomials in D necessarily have no zeros in a disc that properly contains the closed unit disc.

In Section 12 we will show that sequences of functions in  $\mathcal{H}$  whose norms are square summable have a unique common free outer factor. That result can be used to give quick proofs of Theorem 1.11, of the result from [20] that the multiplier algebra of a complete Pick space has property  $\mathbb{A}_1(1)$ , and that sums of Sarason functions are Sarason functions (Corollary 12.2). Property  $\mathbb{A}_1(1)$  implies that if  $\Phi$  is a weak\*-continuous linear functional on  $\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  and if  $\varepsilon > 0$ , then there are  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that

(1.2) 
$$||f|||g|| < ||\Phi|| + \varepsilon$$
 and  $\Phi(u) = \langle uf, g \rangle$  for all  $u \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

In Theorem 12.3 we will show that in (1.2) one can take  $\varepsilon = 0$ , if and only if one can choose f and g of the form  $g = \varphi f$  for some subinner/free outer pair  $(\varphi, f)$ .

Theorem 1.12 will be proved in Section 13. Finally, in Section 14 we assume  $d < \infty$  and we slightly generalize a result of Clouâtre and Davidson ([16]) and we show that for regular unitarily invariant complete Pick spaces on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  a multiplier  $\varphi$  of norm one is subinner, whenever  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$  (Proposition 14.1) and either it is a multiplier-norm limit of polynomials or the space satisfies the one-function Corona theorem and  $M_{\varphi}$  is essentially normal. It is known that the standard weighted Dirichlet spaces  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  satisfy the one-function Corona theorem, and we go on to provide a sufficient condition for  $M_{\varphi}$  to be essentially normal on  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ , Theorem 14.8. We conclude that in  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha > 0$  sufficient regularity of a non-constant function  $\varphi$  implies  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})}$  and that such  $\varphi$  is subinner, if  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$ , see Lemma 14.5 and Theorem 14.9. This theorem does not apply to  $H_d^2$ .

**Acknowledgement:** The authors are grateful to Georgios Tsikalas for sharing an observation related to Section 14.

#### 2. Free holomorphic functions and the free Fock space

In the following we summarize the needed basic definitions and facts about free holomorphic functions and the free Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . For proofs and further details we refer to [47] [48], [50], [37], and [59]. Some care is required since different authors have used different definitions and some papers do not specifically include the case  $d = \infty$ . We mention that we will consider free holomorphic functions functions on the noncommutative ball (nc ball). That is the common approach now, but Popescu in the papers referenced above, considers the functions to be defined on the larger "operatorial unit ball". For the results that are needed in this paper that never creates a problem, and the needed results follow by the same proofs as suggested in the referenced papers. Nevertheless, in the paragraphs below we occasionally offer

some additional comments. Furthermore, we refer to Section 3 of [59] for proofs that many of the relevant concepts can indeed be identified, and that includes the case when  $d = \infty$ .

Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  or  $d = \infty$ , and let  $F_d^+$  denote the free semi-group on d generators. Thus,  $F_d^+$  consists of the empty word  $\emptyset$  and all words of finite length with letters from the alphabet  $A_d = \{1, 2, \ldots d\}$  with d letters. If  $w = w_1 w_2 \cdots w_n$  with  $w_i \in A_d$ , then the flip of w is defined by  $\tilde{w} = w_n \cdots w_2 w_1$ . The length of the empty word is defined to be 0, while if  $w = w_1 w_2 \cdots w_n$  with  $w_i \in A_d$ , then we define the length of w by |w| = n. If  $w \in F_d^+$ , then  $\alpha(w) \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$  is the multi-index associated with w and it is defined by  $\alpha(w) = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_d)$ , where  $\alpha_j$  equals the number of times the letter  $j \in A_d$  occurs in w.

Now let  $x=(x_1,...,x_d)$  be a freely non-commuting indeterminate with d components. We will use it in formal computations with free polynomials and free power series. If  $w \in F_d^+$ , then the free monomials are defined by  $x^w=1$ , if  $w=\emptyset$ , and  $x^w=x_{w_1}\dots x_{w_k}$ , if  $w=w_1\dots w_k$ . If  $n\in\mathbb{N}$  and if  $X=[X_1,\ldots,X_d]$  is a d-tuple of  $n\times n$  matrices, then we can evaluate the monomial  $x^w$  at X by forming the matrix  $X^w=X_{w_1}\dots X_{w_k}$ . A formal power power series in x is an expression of the type  $F(x)=\sum_{w\in F_d^+}a_wx^w$ , where  $a_w\in\mathbb{C}$  for each  $w\in F_d^+$ . Formal power series may converge, when evaluated at certain d-tuples of matrices. For  $n\in\mathbb{N}$  and  $0\le R\le\infty$  we write  $\mathbb{B}_d^{n\times n}(R)$  for d-tuples  $X=[X_1,\ldots,X_d]$  of  $n\times n$  matrices whose row operator norm  $\|X\|$  as linear transformation  $X\in\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n\otimes\mathbb{C}^d,\mathbb{C}^n)$  (resp.  $X\in\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n\otimes\ell_2,\mathbb{C}^n)$  if  $d=\infty$ ) is < R. Here  $X:(u_1,\ldots,u_d)^t\to\sum_{i=1}^d X_iu_i$  for  $u_1,\ldots,u_d\in\mathbb{C}^n$ , and  $\|X\|=\|[X_1,\ldots,X_d]\|$  is defined by

$$||X|| = \sup \left\{ ||\sum_{i=1}^d X_i u_i||_{\mathbb{C}^n} : \sum_{i=1}^d ||u_i||_{\mathbb{C}^n}^2 \le 1 \right\}.$$

The nc-ball of radius R is defined to be

$$\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{B}_d^{n \times n}(R)$$

and we with write  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  for the (open) nc-unit ball  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(1)$ .

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and let  $F(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} a_w x^w$  be a free power series such that

(2.1) 
$$M_k(F) := \left(\sum_{|w|=k} |a_w|^2\right)^{1/2} < \infty \text{ for each } k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}.$$

Then for any  $k \geq 0$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and any d-tuple  $X = [X_1, \dots, X_d]$  of  $n \times n$  matrices that defines a bounded row operator the sum  $\sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w$  converges absolutely in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  and

(2.2) 
$$\left\| \sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w \right\| \le M_k(F) \|X\|^k.$$

Define  $R \in [0, \infty]$  by

$$\frac{1}{R} = \limsup_{k \to \infty} \left( \sum_{|w|=k} |a_w|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2k}}.$$

Then for  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{n \times n}(R)$  we have  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|\sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w\| < \infty$  and hence  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w$  converges in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

For  $d < \infty$  this follows from Theorem 1.1 of [49].

*Proof.* We may and will assume R > 0. Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $X = [X_1, \dots, X_d] \in \mathbb{B}_d^{n \times n}(R)$ . We first show that for each  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and for  $u \in \mathbb{C}^n$ 

(2.3) 
$$\sum_{|w|=k} |a_w| ||X^{w*}u|| < \infty.$$

Note that  $||X|| = ||X^*||$ , hence for  $u \in \mathbb{C}^n$  we have  $\sum_{i=1}^d ||X_i^*u||^2 \le ||X||^2 ||u||^2$ . It follows that an induction argument shows that for  $k \ge 0$ 

$$\sum_{|w|=k} \|X^{w*}u\|^2 \le \|X\|^{2k} \|u\|^2.$$

Thus, condition (2.3) follows easily from the summability assumption (2.1) on the coefficients of F, since

$$\sum_{|w|=k} |a_w| ||X^{w*}u|| \le \left(\sum_{|w|=k} |a_w|^2\right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{|w|=k} ||X^{w*}u||^2\right)^{1/2} \le M_k(F) ||X||^k ||u||.$$

We note that this estimate also implies inequality (2.2). Moreover, (2.3) implies that the sum  $\sum_{|w|=k} \overline{a_w} X^{w*}$  converges unconditionally in the strong operator topology. Since X consists of operators on a finite dimensional space, the sum  $\sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w$  converges unconditionally in the norm of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Finite dimensionality of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$  then yields absolute convergence.

The remainder of this proof is routine. Let  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  with ||X|| < r < R. Then there is  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that whenever  $k \geq k_0$ , then  $(M_k(F))^2 = \sum_{|w|=k} |a_w|^2 \leq r^{-2k}$ . Thus, by (2.2) we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \| \sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w \| \le \sum_{k=0}^{k_0-1} M_k(F) \|X\|^k + \sum_{k=k_0}^{\infty} \frac{\|X\|^k}{r^k} < \infty.$$

The number R is called the radius of convergence of the free power series. If R > 0, then it follows that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{n \times n}(R)$  the series  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{|w|=k} a_w X^w \right)$  converges in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ .

If R > 0, then a function  $F : \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R) \to \mathbb{C}^{nc} := \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n(\mathbb{C})$  is called a free holomorphic function if there are complex coefficients  $\{a_w\}_{w \in F_d^+}$  such that the free power series  $\sum_{w \in F_d^+} a_w x^w$  has radius of convergence  $\geq R$  and  $F(X) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} a_w X^w$  for each  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$ . An important fact about free holomorphic functions F on  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$  is that the coefficients  $a_w$  are determined uniquely by the values F(X) for  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$ . This follows for example as in [49], page 277, with the help of the left creation operators  $L = (L_1, \ldots, L_d)$  on the free Fock space, by considering for 0 < r < R the operators  $X_n = P_n(rL)|\mathcal{H}_n \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_n$  is the space of free polynomials of degree  $\leq n$  in the first  $m = \min\{n, d\}$  variables, and  $P_n$  is the orthogonal projection of the free Fock space onto  $\mathcal{H}_n$ .

If  $F(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{F}(w) x^w$  and  $G(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{G}(w) x^w$  are free holomorphic functions in  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$  and if  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$ , then  $(aF + bG)(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} (a\hat{F}(w) + b\hat{G}(w)) x^w$  and  $FG(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} c_w x^w$ , where  $c_w = \sum_{u,v \in F_d^+, w = uv} \hat{F}(u) \hat{G}(v)$  are free holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$  with (aF + bG)(X) = aF(X) + bG(X) and (FG)(X) = F(X)G(X) for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}(R)$ .

The free Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  is the space of formal power series in  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_d)$  with square summable coefficients i.e.  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  if and only if  $F(x) = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{F}(w) x^w$  and  $||F||^2 = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} |\hat{F}(w)|^2 < \infty$ . It follows from Lemma 2.1 that each  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  has radius of convergence  $\geq 1$ , hence the free Fock space consists of free holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ , and (2.2) implies that

(2.4) 
$$||F(X)||^2 \le \frac{||F||_{\mathcal{F}_d^2}^2}{1 - ||X||^2} for all F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2, X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}.$$

A unitary operator W on  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  which satisfies  $W = W^*$  is defined via the flip operation: If  $F = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{F}(w) x^w$ , then  $\tilde{F} = WF = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{F}(\tilde{w}) x^w$ . We will call W the flip operator.

The non-commutative left analytic Toeplitz algebra is

$$\mathcal{F}_{d}^{\infty,\ell} = \{ G \in \mathcal{F}_{d}^{2} : \|G\|_{\infty} = \sup_{X \in \mathbb{B}_{d}^{nc}} \|G(X)\| < \infty \}.$$

It turns out that  $L_G: F \to GF$ , multiplication by G from the left, defines a bounded operator on  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , if and only if  $G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  and  $||G||_{\infty} = ||L_G||$ ; see Section 3 of [59].

We will also use the notation  $R_G$  for multiplication by G from the right, and it is a simple calculation that shows that  $R_G = WL_{\tilde{G}}W$ , and hence  $||R_G|| = ||\tilde{G}||_{\infty}$ . Thus, it is natural to define the right Toeplitz algebra by

$$\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r} = \{ G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2 : \tilde{G} \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell} \}.$$

Special cases of this are the left creation operators  $L_i = L_{x_i}$  and the right creation operators  $R_i = R_{x_i}$ , which are defined by  $(L_iF)(x) = x_iF(x)$  and  $(R_iF)(x) = F(x)x_i$ , i = 1, ..., d. Finally, for  $w \in F_d^+$  we will write  $L^w = L_{x^w}$  and  $R^w = R_{x^w}$ .

The Toeplitz algebras of operators  $\{L_G \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{F}_d^2) : G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}\}$  and  $\{R_G \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{F}_d^2) : G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}\}$  are closed in both the weak\* topology of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{F}_d^2)$  and the weak operator topology, and the two topologies coincide on these Toeplitz algebras, see Corollary 2.12 of [22]. Furthermore, they have property  $\mathbb{A}_1$ ; in particular, every weak\*-continuous linear functional L can be represented by a rank one operator  $F \otimes G$  by  $L(L_H) = \langle L_H F, G \rangle$  for all  $H \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ . Thus, these rank one operators induce weak\* topologies on the algebras  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$ .

**Lemma 2.2.** (a) If  $F_n, F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , then  $F_n$  converges weakly to F, if and only if  $||F_n|| \leq C$  and  $F_n(X) \to F(X)$  for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ .

(b) If  $H_n, H \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then  $H_n$  converges to H in the weak\*-topology, if and only if  $||H_n||_{\infty} \leq C$  and  $H_n(X) \to H(X)$  for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ .

Note that if  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ , then  $F(X) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^k)$  for some k, so the "pointwise convergence" in (a) and (b) can be understood as either norm convergence or convergence in the weak operator topology.

*Proof.* (a) If  $X = (X_1, \dots, X_d) \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  is a tuple of  $k \times k$ -matrices, and if  $u, v \in \mathbb{C}^k$ , then note that as in the proof of Lemma 2.1 we have

$$\sum_{w} |\langle X^{w*}v, u \rangle|^2 = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{|w|=k} |\langle X^{w*}v, u \rangle|^2 \le \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} ||X||^{2k} ||u||^2 ||v||^2.$$

Thus, the free power series  $K_{X,u,v}(x) = \sum_{w} \langle X^{w*}v, u \rangle x^{w}$  defines an element in  $\mathcal{F}_{d}^{2}$ , and one checks that  $\langle H, K_{X,u,v} \rangle_{\mathcal{F}_{d}^{2}} = \langle H(X)u, v \rangle$  for all  $H \in \mathcal{F}_{d}^{2}$ .

Now suppose  $F_n \to F$  weakly in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . By the uniform boundedness principle,  $||F_n|| \leq C$  for some C > 0 and all n, and by the remarks from the previous paragraph we conclude that for each  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  we have  $F_n(X) \to F(X)$  in the weak operator topology.

In order to show that converse we note first that if  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is orthogonal to all elements of the type  $K_{X,u,v}$ , then it must be the zero function and hence F = 0. Hence finite linear combinations of elements of the type  $K_{X,u,v}$  are dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , and it is now a routine approximation argument to finish the proof.

(b) Let  $H_n, H \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  such that  $H_n$  converges to H in the weak\*-topology, then  $||L_{H_n}|| = ||H_n||_{\infty}$  is bounded and  $H_n = L_{H_n} 1$  converges to  $H = L_H 1$  weakly in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Hence  $H_n(X) \to H(X)$  for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  by part (a).

Conversely, if  $||H_n||_{\infty} \leq C$  and  $H_n(X) \to H(X)$  for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ , then for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  and for all  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  we have  $H_n(X)F(X) \to H(X)F(X)$ . Thus, by (a) we conclude that  $H_nF \to HF$  weakly in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  for all  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Hence  $\langle L_{H_n}F, G \rangle \to \langle L_HF, G \rangle$  for all  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Since  $||L_{H_n}|| \leq C$  for all n, it follows that  $H_n$  converges to H in the weak\*-topology.

We say that p is a free polynomial, if it is of the form  $p(x) = \sum_{w} \hat{p}(w)x^{w}$ , where only finitely many of the coefficients  $\hat{p}(w) \neq 0$ .

**Lemma 2.3.** The free polynomials are weak\*-dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  and in  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$ .

Proof. We will only consider the case  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , the other case will follow after an application of the flip operator. Let  $H \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then it has a homogeneous expansion  $H(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} H_k(x)$ , where  $H_k(x) = \sum_{|w|=k} \hat{H}(w)x^w$ . On pages 405 and 406 of [22] Davidson and Pitts prove that the Fejér means of the partial sums of the homogeneous expansion converge to H in the weak\*-topology. That proves the lemma in the case, when  $d < \infty$ . In order to also establish the lemma for  $d = \infty$  it will suffice to show that functions that only depend on finitely many of the variables are weak\*-dense in  $\mathcal{F}_{\infty}^{\infty,\ell}$ .

Let  $H \in \mathcal{F}_{\infty}^{\infty,\ell}$ ,  $H(x) = \sum_{w \in F_{\infty}^{+}} \hat{H}(w) x^{w}$ . Then for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  define  $H_{n}(x) = \sum_{w \in F_{n}^{+}} \hat{H}(w) x^{w}$ . Note that if  $X = (X_{1}, X_{2}, \dots) \in \mathbb{B}_{\infty}^{nc}$ , then so is  $Y_{n} = (X_{1}, X_{2}, \dots, X_{n}, 0, \dots)$  and  $\|X - Y_{n}\|^{2} = \|\sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} X_{k} X_{k}^{*}\| \to 0$ .

We have  $H_n(X) = H(Y_n)$ , hence  $||H_n||_{\infty} \le ||H||_{\infty}$ . Clearly,  $H_n \to H$  in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , so Lemma 2.2 shows that  $H_n(X) \to H(X)$ .

A distinguished subspace of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  is the symmetric Fock space  $\mathcal{H}_d^2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . An element  $F(x) = \sum_w \hat{F}(w) x^w \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is in  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ , if and only if  $\hat{F}(w) = \hat{F}(v)$ , whenever  $\alpha(w) = \alpha(v)$ . For each multi-index  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$  (which we understand as  $I_{\infty}$  if  $d = \infty$ ) we have  $\|\sum_{\alpha(w)=\alpha} x^w\|^2 = \sum_{\alpha(w)=\alpha} \|x^w\|^2 = \frac{|\alpha|!}{\alpha!}$ , hence the set  $\{e_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^d}$ ,  $e_{\alpha} = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha!}{|\alpha|!}} \sum_{\alpha(w)=\alpha} x^w$ , forms an orthonormal basis for  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ . For  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  set

$$K_z = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \overline{z}^{\alpha(w)} x^w = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} \overline{z}^{\alpha} \sum_{\alpha(w) = \alpha} x^w.$$

Then  $K_z \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  and we can use  $K_z$  to evaluate functions  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  at  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ :

$$F(z) = \langle F, K_z \rangle = \sum_{w} \hat{F}(w) z^{\alpha(w)}.$$

Since F(z) is analytic in z we note that F(z) = 0 for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , if and only if  $\sum_{\alpha(w)=\alpha} \hat{F}(w) = 0$  for each  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ ; if  $d = \infty$ , then  $\mathbb{B}_n \to \mathbb{C}, z \mapsto F(z)$ , is analytic for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , which gives the same conclusion. In turn, this happens if and only if  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^{2^{\perp}}$ , since for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$  we have

$$\langle F, e_{\alpha} \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha!}{|\alpha|!}} \sum_{\alpha(w)=\alpha} \hat{F}(w).$$

This implies that the closed linear span of  $K_z$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  equals  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ . One calculates that

$$\langle K_z, K_\lambda \rangle = \frac{1}{1 - \langle \lambda, z \rangle}.$$

Now recall that  $k_z(\lambda) = \frac{1}{1-\langle \lambda, z \rangle}$  is the reproducing kernel for the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2$ . It follows that the linear map defined by  $Uk_z = K_z$  extends to be a unitary transformation of  $H_d^2$  onto  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ , and if  $f \in H_d^2$ , then (Uf)(z) = f(z) for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ .

Furthermore, if  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ ,  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , and  $G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then the identity  $(L_G F)(z) = G(z)F(z)$  naturally leads to  $L_G^* K_z = \overline{G(z)}K_z$ . It follows that  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$  is invariant for each  $L_G^*$  and  $(L_G^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2)U = UM_g^*$ , where  $g \in \text{Mult}(H_d^2)$  is defined by g(z) = G(z) for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ .

Note that if W is the flip operator, then  $WK_z = K_z$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  and thus  $R_{\tilde{G}}^*K_z = WL_G^*WK_z = \overline{G(z)}K_z$ . It follows that  $R_{\tilde{G}}^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2 = L_G^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2$  for each  $G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ .

#### 3. The free Sarason functions

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . We define the left free Sarason function of F by the formal power series

$$V_F^{\ell}(x) = 2\sum_{w \in F_J^+} \langle F, R^w F \rangle x^w - \|F\|^2$$

and the right free Sarason function of F by

$$V_F^r(x) = 2 \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \langle F, L^w F \rangle x^w - ||F||^2.$$

**Lemma 3.2.** Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Then the left and right free Sarason functions of F and G satisfy the summability hypothesis (2.1) and have radii of convergence  $\geq 1$ . Furthermore,

$$||V_F^r(X) - V_G^r(X)|| \le \sqrt{8}||F - G|| \frac{(||F||^2 + ||G||^2)^{1/2}}{1 - ||X||}$$
 and

$$||V_F^{\ell}(X) - V_G^{\ell}(X)|| \le \sqrt{8}||F - G|| \frac{(||F||^2 + ||G||^2)^{1/2}}{1 - ||X||}$$

for all  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ .

*Proof.* We prove the statements for  $V_F^r$ , the others follow analogously. We start by noting that  $[L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_d]$  defines a row isometry from  $(\mathcal{F}_d^2)^d$  to  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Hence its adjoint, the column operator  $[L_1^*, \ldots, L_d^*]^T$ , is contractive, and thus an induction argument shows

(3.1) 
$$\sum_{|w|=k} ||L^{w*}F||^2 \le ||F||^2.$$

Using the notation from Lemma 2.1 this implies

$$M_k(V_F^r)^2 \le 4 \sum_{|w|=k} |\langle F, L^w F \rangle|^2$$

$$= 4 \sum_{|w|=k} |\langle L^{w*}F, F \rangle|^2$$

$$\le 4 ||F||^2 \sum_{|w|=k} ||L^{w*}F||^2$$

$$\le 4 ||F||^4.$$

Thus  $V_F^r$  satisfies the summability hypothesis (2.1) and by Lemma 2.1 it has radius of convergence  $\geq 1$ . Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} M_k(V_F^r - V_G^r)^2 &\leq 8 \sum_{|w|=k} |\langle F - G, L^w F \rangle|^2 + |\langle G, L^w (F - G) \rangle|^2 \\ &\leq 8 \sum_{|w|=k} \|L^{w*} (F - G)\|^2 \|F\|^2 + \|L^{w*} G\|^2 \|F - G\|^2 \\ &\leq 8 \|F - G\|^2 (\|F\|^2 + \|G\|^2) \text{ by (3.1)}. \end{split}$$

By (2.2) of Lemma 2.1 this implies for  $X \in \mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ 

$$||V_F^r(X) - V_G^r(X)|| \le \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} M_k (V_F^r - V_G^r) ||X||^k$$

$$\le \sqrt{8} ||F - G|| \frac{\sqrt{||F||^2 + ||G||^2}}{1 - ||X||}.$$

The convergence of the series as proven in the Lemma implies that the coefficients  $\{\langle F, L^w F \rangle\}_{w \in F_d^+}$  are uniquely determined by the free holomorphic function  $V_F^r$  (analogously for  $V_F^\ell$ ). We note that if  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then since  $\{x^w\}_{w \in F_d^+}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  we see that  $V_F^\ell(x) = 2(L_F^*F)(x) - ||F||^2$ . Thus, the extra assumption that  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  implies that  $V_F^\ell \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ . From the remarks at the end of Section 2, one can deduce that if  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ , then  $R^{*w}F = L^{*w}F$  implies that  $V_F^r = V_F^\ell$ . More is true in this case.

**Lemma 3.3.** If  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  and  $f \in H_d^2$  with F = Uf, then  $V_F^r = V_F^\ell$  and  $V_F^r(z) = V_F^\ell(z) = V_f(z)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , where  $V_f$  is the Sarason function as defined in equation (1.1).

Furthermore, if  $F, G \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ ,  $f, g \in H_d^2$  with F = Uf, G = Ug, then  $V_F^r = V_G^r$  as free holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$  if and only if  $V_f = V_g$  as analytic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d$ 

Proof. We start by noting that for all  $w \in F_d^+$  we have  $\langle F, L^w F \rangle = \sum_{u \in F_d^+} \hat{F}(wu) \overline{\hat{F}(u)}$ . Thus, if  $w_1, w_2 \in F_d^+$  with  $\alpha(w_1) = \alpha(w_2)$ , then for all  $u \in F_d^+$  we have  $\alpha(w_1u) = \alpha(w_2u)$ , and so  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  implies that

(3.2) 
$$\langle F, L^{w_1}F \rangle = \langle F, L^{w_2}F \rangle$$
, whenever  $\alpha(w_1) = \alpha(w_2)$ .

In order to show that  $V_F^r = V_F^\ell$  we use the flip operator W. Since  $\alpha(w) = \alpha(\tilde{w})$  for all  $w \in F_d^+$  we have  $F = \tilde{F}$  for all  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  and

$$\begin{split} V_F^r(x) &= 2 \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \langle F, L^{\tilde{w}} F \rangle x^w - \|F\|^2 \quad \text{by (3.2) and since } \alpha(\tilde{w}) = \alpha(w) \\ &= 2 \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \langle \tilde{F}, R^w \tilde{F} \rangle x^w - \|F\|^2 \quad \text{since } L^{\tilde{w}} = W R^w W \\ &= 2 \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \langle F, R^w F \rangle x^w - \|F\|^2 \\ &= V_F^\ell(x). \end{split}$$

The equality (3.2) also means that  $V_F^r$  is determined by its values at the points  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , and hence for  $F, G \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  we have  $V_F^r = V_G^r$  as free holomorphic functions, if and only if  $V_F^r(z) = V_G^r(z)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . Thus, it remains to be shown that  $V_F^r(z) = V_f(z)$ , where  $f \in H_d^2$  satisfies F = Uf and hence  $F(\lambda) = f(\lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{B}_d$ .

First suppose that  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell} \cap \mathcal{H}_d^2$ . Then

$$V_F^r(z) = 2\langle L_F^* F, K_z \rangle - ||F||^2$$

$$= 2\langle M_f^* f, k_z \rangle_{H_d^2} - ||f||_{H_d^2}^2$$

$$= 2\langle f, k_z f \rangle_{H_d^2} - ||f||_{H_d^2}^2$$

$$= V_f(z).$$

Thus the required identity  $V_F^r(z) = V_f(z)$  holds on a dense subset of  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ , hence by Lemma 3.2 and the more elementary fact that  $p_n \to f$  in  $H_d^2$  implies  $V_{p_n}(z) \to V_f(z)$  pointwise, it holds for all  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ .

#### 4. A CLOSER LOOK AT THE FREE INNER-OUTER FACTORIZATION

We start this section by stating the theorem about the free innerouter factorization of elements of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , see [11], Theorem 2.1, or [22], Corollary 2.3. These results were stated for  $d < \infty$ , but they can be extended to cover the case  $d = \infty$ . In fact, in [47], Theorem 4.2, Popescu had already established a closely related theorem, which included the possibility that  $d = \infty$ .

An element  $G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$  is called right inner, if  $R_G$  is isometric, and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is called left outer, if  $\{L_GF : G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}\}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . By Lemma 2.3 it follows that F is left outer, if and only if  $\{pF : p \text{ is a free polynomial}\}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ .

Similarly,  $G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  is left inner, whenever  $L_G$  is an isometry, and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is right outer, if  $\{R_GF : G \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}\}$  or equivalently  $\{Fp : p \text{ is a free polynomial}\}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ .

**Theorem 4.1.** Every  $H \in \mathcal{F}_d^2 \setminus \{0\}$  has a left inner/right outer and a right inner/left outer factorization. The factorizations are unique up to a multiplicative scalar of modulus 1.

In particular we note that  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is right outer, if and only if it satisfies the following condition: whenever  $F \in \operatorname{ran} L_{\Phi}$  for some left inner multiplier  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then  $\Phi = c$  for some  $c \in \mathbb{C}$  with |c| = 1.

Recall that a free polynomial is of the form  $p(x) = \sum_{w} \hat{p}(w) x^{w}$ , where only finitely many of the coefficients  $\hat{p}(w) \neq 0$ . If p is a free polynomial, then it follows easily that the free Sarason functions are free polynomials as well, and hence they will define bounded left and right multipliers.

**Lemma 4.2.** If  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , then

$$||pF||^2 = \operatorname{Re}\langle F, V_n^{\ell} F \rangle$$

for every free polynomial p.

*Proof.* If  $p = \sum_w \hat{p}(w)x^w$ , then  $\langle p, R^v p \rangle = \sum_{w \in F_d^+} \hat{p}(wv)\overline{\hat{p}(w)}$ , and hence

$$\langle F, V_p^{\ell} F \rangle = 2 \sum_{v, w \in F_d^+} \overline{\hat{p}(wv)} \hat{p}(w) \langle F, L^v F \rangle - \|p\|^2 \|F\|^2.$$

Next note that  $\langle L^w F, L^{w'} F \rangle = 0$  unless w = w'v or w' = wv for some  $v \in F_d^+$ . Thus, using the fact that each  $L_i$  is isometric we calculate

$$\begin{split} \|pF\|^2 &= \sum_{w,w' \in F_d^+} \hat{p}(w) \overline{\hat{p}(w')} \langle L^w F, L^{w'} F \rangle \\ &= 2 \operatorname{Re} \sum_{w,v \in F_d^+} \hat{p}(w) \overline{\hat{p}(wv)} \langle F, L^v F \rangle - \|p\|^2 \|F\|^2 \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \langle F, V_p^{\ell} F \rangle \quad \text{by identity (4.1).} \end{split}$$

**Lemma 4.3.** If  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , then  $V_F^r = V_G^r$  if and only if

$$||pF||^2 = ||pG||^2$$

for every free polynomial p.

*Proof.* If  $V_F^r = V_G^r$ , then the functions have the same power series coefficients and hence  $\langle F, qF \rangle = \langle G, qG \rangle$  for each free polynomial q. The

conclusion follows immediately from the previous lemma since  $V_n^{\ell}$  is a free polynomial for each free polynomial p, so

$$||pF||^2 = \operatorname{Re} \langle F, V_p^{\ell} F \rangle = \operatorname{Re} \langle G, V_p^{\ell} G \rangle = ||pG||^2.$$

In order to see that the converse is true as well, we use polarization to see that  $\langle F, qF \rangle = \langle G, qG \rangle$  for each free polynomial q. This implies that  $V_F^r = V_G^r$ .

Lemma 4.3 says that  $||pF||^2 = ||pG||^2$  for every free polynomial p if and only if  $\langle F, L^w F \rangle = \langle G, L^w G \rangle$  for all  $w \in F_d^+$ . There are other, perhaps more elementary calculations that lead to this conclusion, but we wanted to show the connection with the Sarason functions. In fact, Lemma 4.2 together with an elementary calculation implies that

$$\|(V_p^{\ell} - 1)F\|^2 + 4\|pF\|^2 = \|(V_p^{\ell} + 1)F\|^2,$$

and a related expression was the basis of the proof of Proposition 3.5 of [5].

**Theorem 4.4.** Let  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$  with  $||R_{\Phi}|| \leq 1$ . If there is a  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ ,  $F \neq 0$ , such that  $||F\Phi|| = ||F||$ , then  $R_{\Phi}$  is isometric when restricted to  $[F]_{\ell} = \operatorname{clos}\{L_{\Psi}F : \Psi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}\}$ .

In particular, it follows that if F is left outer, then  $\Phi$  is right inner.

*Proof.* Assume that  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ ,  $F \neq 0$ ,  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$  with  $||R_{\phi}|| \leq 1$  and such that  $||F\Phi|| = ||F||$ . Then  $R_{\Phi}^* R_{\Phi} F = F$  by Lemma 1.3, hence for all  $w \in F_d^+$  we have

$$\langle F, L^w F \rangle = \langle R_{\Phi}^*(F\Phi), L^w F \rangle = \langle F\Phi, R_{\Phi}L^w F \rangle = \langle F\Phi, L^w(F\Phi) \rangle.$$

Hence  $V_F^r = V_{F\Phi}^r$ , and by Lemma 4.2 this implies that ||pF|| = $||pF\Phi|| = ||R_{\Phi}(pF)||$  for every free polynomial p. An application of Lemma 2.3 now finishes the proof.

- **Lemma 4.5.** Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  with  $V_F^r = V_G^r$ .

  (a) If F is left outer, then there is a right inner  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$  such that  $G = R_{\Phi}F = F\Phi$ .
- (b) If both F and G are left outer, then F = cG for some  $c \in \mathbb{C}$  with |c| = 1.

Of course, an analogous lemma holds for right outer elements.

*Proof.* (a) Since F is left outer,  $\{pF : p \text{ free polynomial}\}\$  is dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ , so by Lemma 4.3, there exists an isometry V on  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  satisfying

$$V(pF) = pG$$

for all free polynomials p. If p, q are free polynomials, then qV(pF) =qpG = V(qpF) and this implies that qV1 = Vq for every free polynomial q.

Set  $\Phi = V1$  and choose a sequence of free polynomials  $q_n$  that converge to F in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Then  $q_n \Phi = Vq_n \to VF = G$  in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Furthermore the sequence converges pointwise in  $\mathbb{B}_d^{nc}$ . We thus conclude that  $G = F\Phi$ . Multiplying that identity by a free outer polynomial p on the left we obtain

$$V(pF) = pG = pF\Phi.$$

Hence multiplication by  $\Phi$  on the right defines an isometric operator, i.e.  $\Phi$  is right inner.

(b) If we also assume that G is left outer, then the range of  $R_{\Phi}$  will be dense in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  and hence  $R_{\Phi}$  is unitary. By Corollary 1.5 of [22], or by the uniqueness part of Theorem 4.1, this implies that  $R_{\Phi}$  is a constant.

**Theorem 4.6.** Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2 \setminus \{0\}$ , then the following are equivalent

- (i)  $V_F^r = V_G^r$ ,
- (ii)  $\langle L_{\Phi}F, F \rangle = \langle L_{\Phi}G, G \rangle$  for all  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty, \ell}$ , (iii)  $F = F_o \Phi_1$  and  $G = F_o \Phi_2$ , where  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  are right inner multipliers and  $F_o$  is left outer.

*Proof.* The implications (iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) are trivial, they follow immediately from the definitions. In order to show (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) we note that by the existence of the inner-outer factorization (Theorem 4.1) we have  $F = F_o \Phi_1$  and  $G = G_o \Phi_2$ , where  $R_{\Phi_1}$  and  $R_{\Phi_2}$  are isometric right multipliers and  $F_o$ ,  $G_o$  are left outer. If condition (i) is satisfied, then

$$V_{F_o}^r = V_F^r = V_G^r = V_{G_o}^r,$$

and hence part (b) of the previous Lemma implies (iii).

Of course, by symmetry the analogous Theorem holds with right and left multiplications switched. We state the result for later reference.

**Theorem 4.7.** Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{F}_d^2 \setminus \{0\}$ , then the following are equivalent

- (i)  $V_F^{\ell} = V_G^{\ell}$ ,
- (ii)  $\langle \overset{r}{R_{\Phi}}F, \overset{G}{F} \rangle = \langle R_{\Phi}G, G \rangle \text{ for all } \Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r},$
- (iii)  $F = \Phi_1 F_o$  and  $G = \Phi_2 F_o$ , where  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  are left inner multipliers and  $F_o$  is right outer.

5. \*-INVARIANT SUBSPACES OF 
$$\mathcal{H}_d^2$$

We say that a subspace  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$  is \*-invariant, if  $L_{\Phi}^* \mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$  for all  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ .

**Lemma 5.1.** Let  $H \in \mathcal{H}_d^2 \setminus \{0\}$ , and suppose  $H = \Phi_\ell F_r = F_\ell \Phi_r$  are its left inner/right outer and right inner/left outer factorizations, normalized so that  $F_r(0) > 0$  and  $F_\ell(0) > 0$ . Then

- (a)  $F_r = F_\ell \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$  and
- (b)  $P_{\mathcal{H}_d^2} L_{\Phi_\ell} | \mathcal{H}_d^2 \stackrel{\text{u}}{=} P_{\mathcal{H}_d^2} R_{\Phi_r} | \mathcal{H}_d^2 \cong M_g$ , where  $g \in \text{Mult}(H_d^2)$  satisfies  $g(z) = \Phi_r(z) = \Phi_\ell(z)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ .

It follows that H is right outer, if and only if it is left outer. Furthermore, if  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_d^2$  is a \*-invariant subspace such that  $H \in \mathcal{H}$ , then  $F_r = F_\ell \in \mathcal{H}$ .

Proof. First we note that for any \*-invariant subspace  $\mathcal{H}$  with  $H \in \mathcal{H}$  we have  $F_r = L_{\Phi_\ell}^* H \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $F_\ell = R_{\Phi_r}^* H \in \mathcal{H}$  by the discussion at the end of Section 2. In particular,  $F_r, F_\ell \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ . By the implications (iii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) of Theorems 4.6 and 4.7 applied with H and  $F_\ell$  (resp. H and  $F_r$ ) we have  $V_H^r = V_{F_\ell}^r$  and  $V_H^\ell = V_{F_r}^\ell$ . As noted in Lemma 3.3, for functions in  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$  the left and right Sarason functions agree, hence  $V_{F_r}^r = V_{F_\ell}^r$ . Thus, by Lemma 4.5(a) we conclude that  $F_r = F_\ell \Phi_1$  for a right inner multiplier  $\Phi_1 \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$ . Analogously,  $F_\ell = \Phi_2 F_r$  for a left inner multiplier  $\Phi_2 \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ . Then  $F_r = \Phi_2 F_r \Phi_1$ . Thus the right outer function  $F_r$  is in the range of the left inner multiplier  $L_{\Phi_2}$ , hence  $\Phi_2 = 1$  by the remark in the paragraph following Theorem 4.1 and the normalization hypothesis. This proves (a).

Also, it implies that for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we have  $H(z) = F_{\ell}(z)\Phi_r(z) = \Phi_{\ell}(z)F_{\ell}(z)$ . Since  $F_{\ell}(z) \neq 0$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we conclude that  $\Phi_r(z) = \Phi_{\ell}(z)$  and hence  $L_{\Phi_{\ell}}^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2 = R_{\Phi_r}^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2$ . Thus (b) follows as well.

Now if H is right outer, then  $\Phi_{\ell} = c$  where |c| = 1. Then  $H(z) = cF_r(z) = F_{\ell}(z)\Phi_r(z)$  and the identity  $F_r = F_{\ell}$  implies  $\Phi_r = c$ . Hence  $H = F_{\ell}$  is left outer. The converse direction follows by symmetry.

Now we extend the definition of free outer functions to elements in \*-invariant subspaces of  $\mathcal{H}_d^2$ . If  $F \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ , we let  $P_F$  denote the linear functional on  $\mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  defined by

$$P_F(\Phi) = \langle L_{\Phi}F, F \rangle.$$

**Definition 5.2.** Let  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$  be a \*-invariant subspace. If  $F \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$ , then F is called  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer, if

$$|F(0)| = \sup\{|G(0)| : G \in \mathcal{H}, P_F = P_G\}.$$

**Theorem 5.3.** Let  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$  be a \*-invariant subspace, and let  $F \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (i) F is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer,
- (ii) F is right outer in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ ,

(iii) F is left outer in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ .

Proof. The equivalence of (ii) and (iii) is part of Lemma 5.1. Suppose that F is left outer and that  $G \in \mathcal{H}$  is any function satisfying  $P_G = P_F$ . Then by (a trivial implication in) Theorem 4.6 we have  $V_G^r = V_F^r$  and hence Lemma 4.5(a) implies that  $G = F\Phi$  for some right inner multiplier  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$ . Then  $|G(0)| = |F(0)\Phi(0)| \leq |F(0)|$  and hence F is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer.

Conversely, suppose that F is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer, and consider its right inner/left outer factorization  $F = G\Phi$ . Then  $P_F = P_G$  and  $G \in \mathcal{H}$  by Lemma 5.1. Hence the fact that F is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer implies that  $|\Phi(0)| = 1$ . Hence  $1 = |\Phi(0)| \le ||\Phi||_{\mathcal{F}^2_d} \le ||\Phi||_{\infty} = 1$ , and this implies that  $\Phi$  is constant and hence F is right outer.

With the following Theorem we will link certain inner multipliers of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  to subinner functions on spaces with complete Pick kernel. If  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$  is a \*-invariant subspace, then we will write  $P_{\mathcal{H}}$  for the projection of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$  onto  $\mathcal{H}$  and we note that the fact that  $L_{\Phi}^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2 = R_{\tilde{\Phi}}^*|\mathcal{H}_d^2$  implies that  $P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi F = P_{\mathcal{H}}F\tilde{\Phi}$  for all  $F \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ .

**Theorem 5.4.** Let  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$  be a \*-invariant subspace, and let  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ ,  $\|\Phi\|_{\infty} \leq 1$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\Phi$  is left inner and ran  $L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ ,
- (b)  $\tilde{\Phi}$  is right inner and ran  $R_{\tilde{\Phi}} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ ,
- (c) there is  $F \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| = ||F|| \neq 0$ ,
- (d) there is an  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer function  $F \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| = ||F|| \neq 0$ .

Proof. Let W denote the flip operator, then the identity  $WL_{\Phi}W = R_{\tilde{\Phi}}$  implies that  $\Phi$  is left inner, if and only if  $\tilde{\Phi}$  is right inner. Furthermore, if  $G = F\tilde{\Phi} \in \operatorname{ran} R_{\tilde{\Phi}} \cap \mathcal{H}$ , then  $G = \tilde{G}$  since  $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2$ , and hence  $G = \tilde{G} = \Phi \tilde{F} \in \operatorname{ran} L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H}$ . Thus, (b)  $\Rightarrow$ (a), and the converse holds similarly.

We will now show the implications (a)  $\Rightarrow$  (c)  $\Rightarrow$  (d)  $\Rightarrow$  (b). Suppose (a) holds. Then there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ ,  $F \neq 0$ , such that  $\Phi F = H \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then  $\Phi F = P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)$  implies  $\|P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)\| = \|\Phi F\| = \|F\|$  and the \*-invariance of  $\mathcal{H}$  implies that  $F = L_{\Phi}^* H \in \mathcal{H}$ . Thus (c) holds.

Next we assume that (c) holds, i.e. there is a nonzero  $F \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| = ||F||$ . Then

$$||F|| = ||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| \le ||\Phi F|| \le ||F||,$$

which means that  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| = ||\Phi F||$  and hence  $\Phi F \in \mathcal{H}$ . Let  $F = \Psi G$  be the left inner/right outer factorization of F. Then  $G = L_{\Psi}^* F \in$ 

 $\mathcal{H}$  as well,  $G \neq 0$  is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer by Theorem 5.3, and

$$||G|| = ||F|| = ||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi \Psi G)||$$

$$= ||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Psi G \tilde{\Phi})|| \text{ by the remark before the statement}$$

$$= ||P_{\mathcal{H}} L_{\Psi} P_{\mathcal{H}}(G \tilde{\Phi})|| \text{ since } \mathcal{H} \text{ is co-invariant for left multipliers}$$

$$= ||P_{\mathcal{H}} L_{\Psi} P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi G)||$$

$$\leq ||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi G)||$$

$$\leq ||G||$$

Thus (d) holds with the function G.

Now assume that (d) holds. Then as remarked before the statement of the Theorem we have  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}(F\tilde{\Phi})|| = ||P_{\mathcal{H}}(\Phi F)|| = ||F||$ , and hence with an argument as in (c) $\Rightarrow$ (d) we see that  $F\tilde{\Phi} \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $||F\tilde{\Phi}|| = ||F||$ . By Theorem 5.3 F is left-outer, hence by Theorem 4.4  $\tilde{\Phi}$  is right inner with  $F\tilde{\Phi} \in \operatorname{ran} R_{\tilde{\Phi}} \cap \mathcal{H}$ , i.e. (b) holds.

### 6. Normalized complete Pick spaces

In this Section we will prove the main Theorems that were stated in Section 1. If  $k_x(y) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle u(y), u(x) \rangle}$  for some function  $u: X \to \mathbb{B}_d$  for  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  with  $u(x_0) = 0$ , then by a theorem of Agler-McCarthy [1] we can identify  $\mathcal{H}_k$  with the \*-invariant subspace

$$\mathcal{H} = \text{closed linear span of } \{K_z : z \in \text{ran } u\} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_d^2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_d^2$$

As in the earlier sections for  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we have used  $K_z$  to denote the point evaluation functional,  $K_z \in \mathcal{H}^2_d \subseteq \mathcal{F}^2_d$ , which for  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_d$  satisfies  $K_z(w) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle w, z \rangle}$ . The identity  $k_x(y) = K_{u(x)}(u(y))$  can be used to show that the map  $Uk_x = K_{u(x)}$  extends to be a linear isometry  $U: \mathcal{H}_k \to \mathcal{F}^2_d$  with range equal to  $\mathcal{H}$ . Thus,  $UU^* = P_{\mathcal{H}}$ , the projection onto  $\mathcal{H}$ , and we have  $U^* = C_u$ , where  $C_u F(x) = F(u(x))$  for all  $x \in X$ .

Furthermore, if  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , then the definition  $\varphi(x) = \Phi(u(x))$  defines a  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  with  $UM_{\varphi}^* = L_{\Phi}^*U$ , and hence  $M_{\varphi}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $P_{\mathcal{H}}L_{\Phi}|\mathcal{H}$ , and  $\|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} \leq \|\Phi\|_{\infty}$ . Conversely, if  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$ , then there is  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  such that  $\|\Phi\|_{\infty} = \|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)}$  and  $\varphi(x) = \Phi(u(x))$ . We call any such  $\Phi$  a lift of  $\varphi$ , see [26], [46]. Another relevant reference in this context is [21].

Note that for a given complete Pick kernel k, the function u is not unique. Indeed, if V is any unitary operator on  $\mathbb{C}^d$  (or  $\ell^2$  if  $d = \infty$ ), then the function  $v: X \to \mathbb{B}_d$ , v(x) = Vu(x) can be used to define the same Pick kernel k. The different v will lead to a different embedding of  $\mathcal{H}_k$  in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Throughout this section we will keep the u fixed. Any

uniqueness statement about liftings are to be understood as uniqueness statements for this fixed embedding.

**Lemma 6.1.** In the setting above, let  $h \in \mathcal{H}_k \setminus \{0\}$  and let  $H = Uh \in \mathcal{H}_d^2$ . Then h is free outer in  $\mathcal{H}_k$  if and only if H is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer.

*Proof.* Let  $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{H}_k$  and define  $H_i = Uh_i$  for i = 1, 2. As explained above,  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  if and only if  $\varphi = \Phi \circ u$  for some  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty, \ell}$ . In this case,

$$\langle \Phi H_i, H_i \rangle = \langle P_{\mathcal{H}} L_{\Phi} H_i, H_i \rangle = \langle \varphi h_i, h_i \rangle.$$

Hence  $P_{h_1} = P_{h_2}$  if and only if  $P_{H_1} = P_{H_2}$ . Moreover,  $H_i(0) = h_i(x_0)$ . The result follows from these two observations.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. The existence is just Theorem 4.1 applied to functions in  $\mathcal{H}$  combined with the results of the previous section. Indeed, if  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k$ , then  $f = F \circ u$  for  $F = Uf \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then  $F = \Phi G$  for some left inner multiplier  $\Phi$  and a right outer function G (Theorem 4.1). Theorem 5.3 shows that  $G = L_{\Phi}^* F \in \mathcal{H}$  is  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer. Let  $g = U^*G = G \circ u$ . Then G = Ug and g is free outer in  $\mathcal{H}_k$  by Lemma 6.1. We also observe that  $||g|| = ||G|| = ||\Phi G|| = ||F|| = ||f||$ , hence if we set  $\varphi = \Phi \circ u$ , then  $f = \varphi g$  and  $\varphi$  is subinner by definition.

Now suppose  $f = \varphi g \in \mathcal{H}_k$ , where  $(\varphi, g)$  is any subinner/free outer pair. We set F = Uf, G = Ug and we use the lifting theorem to deduce the existence of a  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  with  $\|\Phi\|_{\infty} = 1$  and  $\Phi \circ u = \varphi$ . Then  $F = P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi G \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $\|P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi G\| = \|F\| = \|G\|$ . By Theorem 5.4  $\Phi$  is left inner and since  $\|G\| = \|P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi G\| \leq \|\Phi G\| \leq \|G\|$  we must have  $\Phi G = P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi G$ . Thus,  $F = \Phi G$  is a left inner/right outer factorization of F, which we know to be unique up to a multiplicative unimodular constant (see Theorem 4.1). That implies that the factorization  $f = \varphi g \in \mathcal{H}_k$  was unique since  $g(x_0) > 0$ , see Definition 1.2.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. Let  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}_k$  have the same free outer factor h, then  $f = \varphi h$ ,  $g = \psi h$  for subinner functions  $\varphi, \psi$  and ||f|| = ||h|| = ||g||. Then the identities  $h = M_{\varphi}^* f = M_{\psi}^* g$  imply that  $P_f = P_h = P_g$ , see Lemma 1.3.

Conversely, we suppose that  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}_k$  with  $P_f = P_g$ . As in the proof of Lemma 6.1, we find that  $\langle \Phi F, F \rangle = \langle \Phi G, G \rangle$  for all  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$ , where F = Uf and G = Ug. Hence by Theorem 4.6 there is a left outer factor H and right inner factors  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$  such that  $F = H\Psi_1$  and  $G = H\Psi_2$ . By Lemma 5.1 the left inner/right outer factorization has the same outer factor H, hence there are left inner factors  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  such that  $F = \Phi_1 H$  and  $G = \Phi_2 H$ . Then as in the proof of Theorem 1.4 it follows that  $h = H \circ u$  is the free outer factor of both f and g.

The uniqueness part of the following Theorem can be understood to be a more general version of the fact that solutions to extremal classical Nevanlinna-Pick problems are unique and given by Blaschke products, and of a generalization thereof by Sarason [60, Proposition 5.1]; also see Theorem 9.3.

**Theorem 6.2.** (a) If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  is subinner, then there is a unique  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  such that  $\|\Phi\|_{\infty} = 1$  and  $\Phi \circ u = \varphi$ . Moreover,  $\Phi$  is necessarily left inner and ran  $L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ .

(b) If  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  is left-inner such that ran  $L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ , then  $\varphi = \Phi \circ u$  is subinner.

*Proof.* (a) The existence of  $\Phi$  is a consequence of the lifting theorem, which was mentioned in the introductory remarks of this section.

Since  $\varphi$  is subinner, we may choose  $0 \neq h \in \mathcal{H}_k$  with  $\|\varphi h\| = \|h\|$ . By Corollary 1.7 we may assume that h is free outer and we also assume  $h(x_0) > 0$ . Set  $f = \varphi h$ , F = Uf, and  $H = Uh \in \mathcal{H}$ . Since h is free outer in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ , it follows that H must be  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer by Lemma 6.1. Thus by Theorem 5.3 H is right outer in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Also  $H(0) = H(u(x_0)) = h(x_0) > 0$ .

Let  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  be any multiplier satisfying  $\|\Phi\|_{\infty} = 1$  and  $\Phi \circ u = \varphi$ . The properties of  $\Phi$  imply that  $UM_{\varphi} = P_{\mathcal{H}}L_{\Phi}U$ , and hence  $U(\varphi h) = P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi H$ . We have

$$||H|| = ||h|| = ||\varphi h|| = ||P_{\mathcal{H}} \Phi H|| \le ||\Phi H|| \le ||H||.$$

Thus we must have  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi H|| = ||H||$ , and we conclude from Theorem 5.4 that  $\Phi$  is left inner. Furthermore, the equality  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi H|| = ||\Phi H||$  implies that  $\Phi H \in \mathcal{H}$  and hence  $F = U(\varphi h) = \Phi H$ .

Thus,  $\Phi$  and H are the unique left inner/right outer factors of the function  $F = \Phi H \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$  (Theorem 4.1 and H(0) > 0). In particular,  $\Phi$  was determined uniquely. Furthermore, we have  $\Phi H \in \operatorname{ran} L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H}$ , i.e.  $\operatorname{ran} L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ .

(b) Now suppose that  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  is left-inner, ran  $L_{\Phi} \cap \mathcal{H} \neq (0)$ , and  $\varphi = \Phi \circ u$ . Then  $UM_{\varphi} = P_{\mathcal{H}}L_{\Phi}U$ , and by Theorem 5.4 (c) there is  $0 \neq H \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $||P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi H|| = ||H|| = ||\Phi H||$ . This implies  $\Phi H \in \mathcal{H}$ . We set  $h = U^*H \in \mathcal{H}_k$ , then  $\Phi H = P_{\mathcal{H}}\Phi Uh = U\varphi h$  and hence  $||\varphi h|| = ||h|| \neq 0$ , i.e.  $\varphi$  is subinner.

**Theorem 6.3.** If  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k$  is a free outer function, then f is cyclic in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ .

*Proof.* This follows from Theorem 5.3 with arguments as used in the previous proofs. Indeed, if  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k$  is free outer, then  $f = F \circ u$  for  $F = Uf \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then F must be  $\mathcal{H}$ -free outer in  $\mathcal{H} = \operatorname{ran} U$  by

Lemma 6.1. Theorem 5.3 implies that F is right outer in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ . Hence there are  $H_n \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,r}$  such that  $R_{H_n}F \to 1$ . Set  $h_n(x) = H_n(u(x))$ , then as explained in the beginning of this section  $h_n \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  and  $||h_n f - 1||_{\mathcal{H}_k} \leq ||R_{H_n}F - 1||_{\mathcal{F}_d^2} \to 0$ . Since  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$  (see also Lemma 7.2 below), f is cyclic in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ .

# 7. The Sarason function

In this section we will prove Theorems 1.13 and 1.15. We start with some elementary facts about Pick kernels. The first two lemmas are versions of [61, Prop. 4.4] and its proof. For completeness we record the short proofs. Let X be a set and  $w_0 \in X$ ,  $\mathcal{K}$  be a Hilbert space,  $u: X \to \mathcal{K}$  be a function with  $u(w_0) = 0$ , and let

$$k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle u(z), u(w) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}}}$$

be a normalized Pick kernel that is the reproducing kernel for the Hilbert function space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Of course, in order for this to be well-defined we need to assume ||u(z)|| < 1 for all  $z \in X$ .

**Lemma 7.1.** If  $x \in \mathcal{K}$ , then  $\varphi_x(z) = \langle u(z), x \rangle_{\mathcal{K}}$  defines a multiplier on  $\mathcal{H}$  with  $\|\varphi_x\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|x\|$ .

*Proof.* There is nothing to prove if x = 0. Hence it will suffice to prove the Lemma for ||x|| = 1. Let P denote the projection of  $\mathcal{K}$  onto  $x^{\perp}$ , then  $\langle u(z), u(w) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}} = \varphi_x(z) \overline{\varphi_x(w)} + \langle Pu(z), u(w) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}}$  and hence

$$(1 - \varphi_x(z)\overline{\varphi_x(w)})k_w(z) = 1 + \langle Pu(z), u(w) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}}k_w(z).$$

By the Schur product theorem this is positive definite, hence  $\varphi_x$  must be a contractive multiplier on  $\mathcal{H}$ ; see for example [2, Corollary 2.37].

**Lemma 7.2.** If  $w \in X$ , then  $k_w \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $||k_w||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq 2||k_w||^2$ .

*Proof.* If  $w \in X$ , then by the previous lemma  $\|\varphi_{u(w)}\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|u(w)\| < 1$ . Note that  $k_w = \frac{1}{1 - \varphi_{u(w)}}$ . Hence

$$||k_w||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ||\varphi_{u(w)}||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})}^n \le \frac{1}{1 - ||u(w)||_{\mathcal{K}}} \le 2||k_w||_{\mathcal{H}}^2.$$

**Lemma 7.3.** If  $z, z_n \in X$  such that  $k_{z_n} \to k_z$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ , then  $k_{z_n} \to k_z$  in  $\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $k_z - k_w = \varphi_{(u(z)-u(w))} k_z k_w$ , hence by Lemmata 7.1 and 7.2,

$$||k_z - k_w||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \le 4||k_z||^2||k_w||^2||u(z) - u(w)||_{\mathcal{K}}.$$

Now suppose  $k_{z_n} \to k_z$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then  $k_{z_n}(z_n) = ||k_{z_n}||^2 \to ||k_z||^2 = k_z(z)$  and  $k_{z_n}(z) \to k_z(z)$ . We know that  $k_x(y) = \frac{1}{1 - \langle u(y), u(x) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}}}$  for all  $x, y \in X$ , thus  $||u(z_n)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2 \to ||u(z)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2$  and  $\text{Re}\langle u(z), u(z_n) \rangle_{\mathcal{K}} \to ||u(z)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2$ . Hence

$$||u(z_n) - u(z)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2 = ||u(z_n)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2 + ||u(z)||_{\mathcal{K}}^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}\langle u(z), u(z_n)\rangle_{\mathcal{K}} \to 0$$
 and the lemma follows.

Proof of Theorem 1.13. The equivalence of (i) and (ii) is Theorem 1.5, it was established in Section 6. (ii) $\Rightarrow$ (iii) is trivial. We will now show (iii) $\Rightarrow$ (ii).

If  $f, g \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , then  $V_f = 2M_f^* f - ||f||^2 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $P_f(\varphi) = \langle \varphi, M_f^* f \rangle$  for all  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , and similarly for g. Thus, if  $V_f = V_g$ , then  $M_f^* f = M_g^* g$  and hence  $P_f = P_g$ .

Next assume that  $d \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ ,  $X = \mathbb{B}_d$ , and that we are given coefficients  $\{a_{\alpha}\}$  such that for each  $\alpha \in I_d$   $a_{\alpha} > 0$  and  $\sum_{\alpha \in I_d} a_{\alpha} |z^{\alpha}|^2 < \infty$  for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . Then an application of the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality implies that the series

$$k_w(z) = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} a_{\alpha} z^{\alpha} \overline{w}^{\alpha}$$

converges absolutely for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . Then  $\{f_{\alpha}(z) = \sqrt{a_{\alpha}}z^{\alpha} : \alpha \in I_d\}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\mathcal{H}$  and every  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  is of the form  $f = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} \langle f, f_{\alpha} \rangle f_{\alpha}$ , hence

$$f(z) = \langle f, k_z \rangle = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} \hat{f}(\alpha) z^{\alpha},$$

where  $\hat{f}(\alpha) = \langle f, f_{\alpha} \rangle \sqrt{a_{\alpha}}$ , and the series converges absolutely for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . Furthermore, we have

$$||f||^2 = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} |\langle f, f_\alpha \rangle|^2 = \sum_{\alpha \in I_d} \frac{|\hat{f}(\alpha)|^2}{a_\alpha}.$$

Let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote the weak\*-closure of the finite linear combinations of reproducing kernels  $k_w$  in  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . If  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $V_f = V_g$ , then  $P_f$  and  $P_g$  agree on  $\mathcal{L}$ . We will show that  $\mathcal{L} = \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

We will first show that  $\mathcal{L}$  contains all monomials. Let  $\alpha \in I_d$ . Then there is  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\alpha \in I_n$ . If n < d, then we identify  $\mathbb{B}_n$  with  $\{z \in \mathbb{B}_d : z_j = 0 \text{ for all } j > n\} \subseteq \mathbb{B}_d$ . Note that if  $w \in \mathbb{B}_n$ , then for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we have  $k_w(z) = \sum_{\beta \in I_n} a_\beta \overline{w}^\beta z^\beta$ . A standard result about power series shows that the last series converges uniformly on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{B}_n \times \mathbb{B}_n$ ; see, for instance, [52, Corollary 1.16]. Therefore the function  $(z, w) \mapsto k_w(z)$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{B}_n \times \mathbb{B}_n$ . Since

$$||k_w - k_z||^2 = k_w(w) - 2\operatorname{Re} k_w(z) + k_z(z),$$

we see that  $w \mapsto k_w$  is continuous as a function  $\mathbb{B}_n \to \mathcal{H}$ , and hence as a function  $\mathbb{B}_n \to \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  by Lemma 7.3.

Next, let  $\sigma$  be the rotationally invariant Borel probability measure on  $\partial \mathbb{B}_n$  and let 0 < r < 1. For fixed  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , the series  $k_w(z) = \sum_{\beta \in I_n} a_{\beta} \overline{w}^{\beta} z^{\beta}$ , regarded as a function of w, converges uniformly on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{B}_n$ . Hence

$$\int_{\partial \mathbb{B}_n} w^{\alpha} k_{rw}(z) d\sigma(w) = a_{\alpha} r^{|\alpha|} \int_{\partial \mathbb{B}_n} |w^{\alpha}|^2 d\sigma(w) z^{\alpha}.$$

On the other hand, the integral  $\int_{\partial \mathbb{B}_n} w^{\alpha} k_{rw} d\sigma(w)$  converges in multiplier norm and in particular belongs to  $\mathcal{L}$ . This shows that  $z^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{L}$ , and so  $\mathcal{L}$  contains all polynomials.

If  $d < \infty$ , then the proof of Lemma 4.1 of [29] applies to show that the polynomials are weak\*-dense in Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ), hence  $\mathcal{L} = \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  in that case. We note here that the proof of Lemma 4.1 of [29] shows that every multiplier is a weak operator topology limit of a bounded sequence of polynomials; moreover the weak operator and weak\* topologies agree on bounded subsets of  $B(\mathcal{H})$ .

We finish the proof by showing that the polynomials are also weak\* dense in case  $d = \infty$ . If  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\infty}$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then let

$$z_{t,n} = (z_1, \dots, z_n, e^{it} z_{n+1}, e^{it} z_{n+2}, \dots).$$

Given  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , let  $\varphi_{t,n}(z) = \varphi(z_{t,n})$ . Since  $k_{w_{t,n}}(z_{t,n}) = k_w(z)$ , it follows that  $\varphi_{t,n} \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\|\varphi_{t,n}\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover, absolute convergence of the power series expansion of  $\varphi$  and the Weierstraß M-test show that for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\infty}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the power series of  $\varphi_{t,n}(z)$  converges uniformly in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and that the map  $t \mapsto \varphi_{t,n}(z)$  is continuous. Hence  $t \mapsto \varphi_{t,n}$  is weak\*-continuous as a map  $\mathbb{R} \to \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

Uniform convergence shows that for each  $z \in \mathbb{B}_{\infty}$ ,

$$\int_0^{2\pi} \varphi_{t,n}(z) \frac{dt}{2\pi} = \varphi(z_1, \dots, z_n, 0, 0, \dots).$$

Thus, if  $\varphi_n(z) = \varphi(z_1, \ldots, z_n, 0, 0, \ldots)$ , then  $\varphi_n = \int_0^{2\pi} \varphi_{t,n} \frac{dt}{2\pi}$ , and the integral converges in the weak\* topology. Hence  $\|\varphi_n\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})}$ . Moreover,  $\varphi_n$  converges to  $\varphi$  in the norm of  $\mathcal{H}$ ; hence  $\varphi_n$  converges to  $\varphi$  pointwise on  $\mathbb{B}_{\infty}$  and thus in the weak\* topology of  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

It remains to show that each  $\varphi_n$  belongs to the weak\* closure of the polynomials. Let  $\psi = \varphi_n$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\psi_{t,1}(z) = \psi(e^{it}z)$ , and as observed above, the map  $t \mapsto \psi_{t,1}$  is weak\* continuous. In this setting, the argument in the proof of Lemma 4.1 of [29] shows that the

Fejér means of  $\psi$ , which are polynomials, converge to  $\psi$  in the weak\* topology.

Proof of Theorem 1.15. For  $z, \lambda \in \mathbb{D}$  let  $k_{\lambda}(z) = \frac{1}{1-\overline{\lambda}z}$  denote the Szegő kernel. As before let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote the weak\*-closure of the finite linear combinations of reproducing kernels of  $\mathcal{H} = H^2(\mathbb{D})|_X$  in  $\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Assume that  $\lambda_1 = 0$ . For  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  we define  $\psi_j : X \to \mathbb{C}$  to be 1 at  $\lambda_j$  and 0 at all the other points of X. We will first show that each  $\psi_j \in \mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

Fix  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let N > j. Then since the functions  $k_{\lambda_n}|X$  are linearly independent there is a function  $f_N = \sum_{n=1}^N a_n k_{\lambda_n}$  that equals 1 at  $\lambda_j$  and 0 at  $\lambda_n$  for all  $1 \leq n \leq N, n \neq j$ . Then  $f_N$  is a rational function with simple poles at  $1/\overline{\lambda_n}$  for  $n=2,\ldots,N$  and the numerator of  $f_N$  has degree at most N-1 and vanishes at  $\lambda_n$  for  $1 \leq n \leq N, n \neq j$ . Note that  $a_n \neq 0$  for each n, since the numerator of  $f_N$  must have N-1 zeros. Hence

$$f_N(z) = \frac{1 - |\lambda_j|^2}{1 - \overline{\lambda}_j z} \prod_{n=1, n \neq j}^N \frac{b_n(z)}{b_n(\lambda_j)}$$

where  $b_n(z) = \frac{\lambda_n - z}{1 - \overline{\lambda}_n z}$ . Then  $f_N \in \mathcal{L}$ . (Alternatively, one could define  $f_N$  by the last formula and observe that  $f_N \in \mathcal{L}$  by partial fraction decomposition.) Moreover,

$$||f_N||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \le ||f_N||_{H^{\infty}} \le \frac{2}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n \ne j} |b_n(\lambda_j)|} < \infty,$$

and  $f_N(\lambda_n) \to \delta_{nj}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . This shows that  $f_N \to \psi_j$  in the weak\*-topology of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Hence  $\psi_j \in \mathcal{L}$ .

If  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}$ , then  $\varphi | X \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq \|\varphi\|_{H^{\infty}}$ . Conversely, by the commutant lifting theorem every element in  $\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  is of the form  $\varphi | X$  for some  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = \|\varphi\|_{H^{\infty}}$ .

For  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  set  $B_N(z) = \prod_{n>N} \frac{\overline{\lambda}_n}{|\lambda_n|} b_n(z)$ . Then for every  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}$  we note that  $B_N \varphi \to \varphi$  in the weak\*-topology of  $H^{\infty}$ . This implies that  $B_N \varphi | X \to \varphi | X$  in the weak\*-topology of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . But we have

$$(B_N \varphi)|X = \sum_{j=1}^N B_N(\lambda_j) \varphi(\lambda_j) \psi_j \in \mathcal{L} \text{ for each } N.$$

### 8. Approximation by subinner functions

In every reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_k$  the set of finite linear combinations of reproducing kernels is dense. If  $\mathcal{H}_k$  is separable, then

there is a countable set  $Y \subseteq X$  such that the set of finite linear combinations of  $\{k_x\}_{x\in Y}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ . Indeed, since subspaces of separable metric spaces are separable, there exists a countable set  $Y \subseteq X$  so that  $\{k_x : x \in Y\}$  is dense in  $\{k_x : x \in X\}$ , hence the set of finite linear combinations of  $\{k_x\}_{x\in Y}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ . Let  $Y = \{x_n\} \subseteq X$  be any such countable subset of a separable complete Pick space  $\mathcal{H}_k$ , then

$$\mathcal{M}_n = \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^n c_j k_{x_j} : c_j \in \mathbb{C} \right\}$$

defines a nested sequence of finite dimensional \*-invariant subspaces of  $\mathcal{H}_k$  whose union is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ .

Next we record a simple lemma.

**Lemma 8.1.** Let k be a normalized complete Pick kernel and let  $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_k$  be a finite dimensional \*-invariant subspace.

If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  with  $||M_{\varphi}^*|\mathcal{M}|| = 1$ , then there is a subinner function  $\psi$  such that  $\varphi - \psi \in \mathcal{M}^{\perp}$ . Moreover, there exist  $f, g \in \mathcal{M}$  with  $g = \psi f$  and  $||f|| = ||g|| \neq 0$ .

Proof. Let  $T = M_{\varphi}^* | \mathcal{M}$ . Then  $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ , ||T|| = 1, and  $TM_u^* = M_u^*T$  for all  $u \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$ . Hence by the Ball-Trent-Vinnikov Commutant Lifting Theorem, [12], there is a multiplier  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  with  $||\psi||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} = 1$  and  $T = M_{\psi}^* | \mathcal{M}$ . The identity  $M_{\psi}^* | \mathcal{M} = M_{\varphi}^* | \mathcal{M}$  implies ran  $M_{(\varphi - \psi)} \subseteq \mathcal{M}^{\perp}$ .

Furthermore, since  $\mathcal{M}$  is finite dimensional  $M_{\psi}^*|\mathcal{M}$  attains its norm. Hence there is  $g \in \mathcal{M}$  with  $||M_{\psi}^*g|| = ||g|| = 1$ . Then by Lemma 1.3 we have  $M_{\psi}M_{\psi}^*g = g$ . Lemma 8.1 evidently follows with  $f = M_{\psi}^*g \in \mathcal{M}$ .

If  $\mathcal{H}_k$  is a finite dimensional complete Pick space, then the subinner functions are precisely the multipliers of norm 1, as operators on finite dimensional spaces attain their norm. We will now prove that in infinite dimensional complete Pick spaces, every function in the unit ball of the multiplier algebra is a weak\* limit of subinner functions.

**Theorem 8.2.** Let k be a normalized complete Pick kernel on a set X, and suppose  $\mathcal{H}_k$  is separable and infinite dimensional.

Then for every  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} \leq 1$ , there is a sequence of subinner functions  $\varphi_n$  such that  $\varphi_n(x) \to \varphi(x)$  for every  $x \in X$ .

Moreover, if we are given a nested sequence of finite dimensional \*-invariant subspaces  $\{\mathcal{M}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that

(i) 
$$1 \in \mathcal{M}_n \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{n+1} \subseteq \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$$
 for each  $n$ ,

(ii) 
$$\mathcal{H}_k = \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}_n$$
,

then for each n the subinner function  $\varphi_n$  can be chosen to satisfy  $g_n = \varphi_n f_n$  for some functions  $f_n, g_n \in \mathcal{M}_n$ .

Taking  $\mathcal{M}_n$  as at the beginning of the section, the approximating subinner functions can be thought of as ratios of finite linear combinations of reproducing kernels. If for  $1 \leq d < \infty$ , we have  $\mathcal{H}_k \subseteq \operatorname{Hol}(\mathbb{B}_d)$ , the monomials  $\{z^{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^d}$  form an orthogonal basis for  $\mathcal{H}_k$  and are multipliers of  $\mathcal{H}_k$ , then one easily checks that one can take  $\mathcal{M}_n$  to be the span of polynomials that are homogeneous of order  $\leq n$ , and the approximating subinner functions are going to be rational functions. Thus, Theorem 1.10 follows.

Proof. We first observe that there exist sequences  $\{\mathcal{M}_n\}$  of subspaces as in the statement. Let  $x_0 \in X$  be the normalization point of the reproducing kernel k, i.e.  $k_{x_0} = 1$ , and choose  $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subseteq X$  such that the linear span of  $\{k_{x_n}\}_{n\geq 0}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ . For  $n\geq 0$  set  $\mathcal{M}_n = \{\sum_{j=0}^n c_j k_{x_j} : c_0, \ldots, c_n \in \mathbb{C}\}$ , then  $1 \in \mathcal{M}_n$  for each n and the  $\mathcal{M}_n$ 's form a nested sequence of finite dimensional \*-invariant subspaces such that  $\mathcal{H}_k = \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}_n$ . Moreover, by Lemma 7.2, we have  $\mathcal{M}_n \subseteq \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$ .

Next let  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} \leq 1$  and fix a sequence of subspaces  $\mathcal{M}_n$  satisfying the conditions (i) and (ii) of the Theorem. Clearly, we may assume that  $\mathcal{M}_{n-1} \subsetneq \mathcal{M}_n$  for all n, so there is  $\psi_n \in \mathcal{M}_n \ominus \mathcal{M}_{n-1}$  with  $\|\psi_n\| = 1$ . Then  $\{\psi_n\}$  is a sequence of multipliers that is orthonormal in  $\mathcal{H}_k$ . Hence  $\{\psi_n\}$  converges to 0 weakly and so  $\psi_n(x) \to 0$  for each  $x \in X$ . Write  $P_n$  for the projection of  $\mathcal{H}_k$  onto  $\mathcal{M}_n$ . Then  $I - P_n \to 0$  in the strong operator topology.

Fix  $n \ge 1$ . For  $t \ge 0$  set  $\varphi_{n,t} = \varphi + t\psi_n$ . Then if  $t \ge 2$  we have

$$||M_{\varphi_{n,t}}^*|\mathcal{M}_n|| = ||P_n M_{\varphi_{n,t}}|\mathcal{M}_n|| \ge ||P_n (\varphi + t\psi_n) 1||_{\mathcal{H}_k}$$
  
 
$$\ge t ||\psi_n||_{\mathcal{H}_k} - 1 \ge 1.$$

Here we used that  $1 \in \mathcal{M}_n$ . We also have

$$||M_{\varphi_{n,0}}^*|\mathcal{M}_n|| = ||M_{\varphi}^*|\mathcal{M}_n|| \le ||\varphi||_{\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} \le 1.$$

Thus, by continuity there is  $0 \le t_n \le 2$  such that  $||M_{\varphi_{n,t_n}}^*|\mathcal{M}_n|| = 1$ . Now we apply Lemma 8.1 to conclude that there is a subinner function  $\varphi_n$ , satisfying  $g_n = \varphi_n f_n$  for some  $f_n, g_n \in \mathcal{M}_n$ , such that  $\varphi_{n,t_n} - \varphi_n \perp \mathcal{M}_n$ . Then  $\varphi_n - \varphi = (I - P_n)(\varphi_n - \varphi_{n,t_n}) + t_n \psi_n$  and hence for all  $x \in X$  we have

$$|\varphi_{n}(x) - \varphi(x)| \leq |\langle \varphi_{n} - \varphi_{n,t_{n}}, (I - P_{n})k_{x} \rangle| + 2|\psi_{n}(x)|$$

$$\leq (\|\varphi_{n}\| + \|\varphi_{n,t_{n}}\|)\|(I - P_{n})k_{x}\| + 2|\psi_{n}(x)|$$

$$\leq 4\|(I - P_{n})k_{x}\| + 2|\psi_{n}(x)| \to 0$$

## 9. Solutions to extremal Pick problems

For  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in X$  and  $w_1, \ldots, w_n \in \mathbb{C}$  let  $K = (k_{\lambda_i}(\lambda_j))$  be the Gramian of the kernels, and let  $P = ((1 - \overline{w}_i w_j) k_{\lambda_i}(\lambda_j))$  be the Pick matrix. The Pick problem with data  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in X$  and  $w_1, \ldots, w_n \in \mathbb{C}$  is to find a  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq 1$  and  $\varphi(\lambda_j) = w_j$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, n$ . It is a property of complete Pick kernels, that a Pick problem has a solution, if and only if the Pick matrix  $P \geq 0$ , i.e.  $\langle Pa, a \rangle \geq 0$  for all  $a \in \mathbb{C}^n$ , see [41], [51], [40]; see also [2].

**Lemma 9.1.** If  $P \ge 0$ , then the null space of K is contained in the null space of P.

Proof. Let  $a=(a_1,\ldots,a_n)\in\mathbb{C}^n$  with Ka=0. Set  $f=\sum_{j=1}^n a_jk_{x_j}$  and  $g=\sum_{j=1}^n a_j\overline{w}_jk_{x_j}$ . Then  $\|f\|^2=\langle Ka,a\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^n}$  and  $\|f\|^2-\|g\|^2=\langle Pa,a\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^n}$ . Thus, Ka=0 implies that  $\|f\|=0$ , then the positivity of P implies that  $\|g\|=0$  as well and hence  $\langle Pa,a\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^n}=0$ . This implies that Pa=0 since  $P\geq 0$ .

Thus, if  $P \geq 0$ , then the rank of P must be less than or equal to the rank of K. Of course, K will be full rank unless the embedding u from X into  $\mathbb{B}_d$  is not injective.

**Definition 9.2.** A Pick problem is called extremal, if  $P \geq 0$  and rank P < rank K.

It is known that solutions to extremal Pick problems are unique; see for instance [2, Theorem 8.33] for the case when K has full rank.

**Theorem 9.3.** Solutions to extremal Pick problems are given by subinner functions.

Proof. The hypothesis implies that there is  $a \in \mathbb{C}^n$  such that Pa = 0 and  $Ka \neq 0$ . We use the same functions f and g as in the proof of the previous lemma, then  $||f|| \neq 0$  and ||f|| = ||g||. If  $\varphi$  is any solution to the Pick problem, then the equalities  $M_{\varphi}^* k_{x_j} = \overline{w}_j k_{x_j}$  imply that  $g = M_{\varphi}^* f$ . By Lemma 1.3 with  $T = M_{\varphi}^*$  we conclude that  $f = \varphi g$ . Hence  $\varphi$  is subinner.

Note that an extremal Pick problem can be regarded as a multiplier of  $\mathcal{H}|_{\{\lambda_1,\ldots,\lambda_n\}}$  of norm 1, which is subinner by finite dimensionality. This observation relates this section to Theorem 6.2.

#### 10. The Dirichlet space

The Dirichlet space D is defined as

$$D = \{ f \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathbb{D}) : \int_{\mathbb{D}} |f'(z)|^2 dA(z) < \infty \}$$

with norm given by

$$||f||_D^2 = ||f||_{H^2}^2 + \int_{\mathbb{D}} |f'|^2 \frac{dA}{\pi},$$

where dA denotes integration with respect to planar Lebesgue measure. Then, as mentioned in the Introduction, the reproducing kernel is  $\frac{1}{\overline{w}z}\log\frac{1}{1-\overline{w}z}$  and it is well-known that this is a complete Pick kernel, see e.g. [2, Corollary 7.41]. We start this section by showing that in D a theorem like the Bergman inner-outer factorization that was mentioned in the Introduction does not hold.

**Theorem 10.1.** There is a function  $f \in D$  that is not of the form  $f = \varphi h$ , where  $\varphi, h \in D$  and  $\varphi$  is D-extremal, and h is cyclic in D.

Proof. Recall from [53] that every invariant subspace  $\mathcal{M}$  of the Dirichlet space D is generated by  $\mathcal{M} \ominus z\mathcal{M}$ , and this space is one dimensional. Hence  $\mathcal{M}$  is of the form  $\mathcal{M} = [\varphi]$  for some extremal function  $\varphi$ , and the function  $\varphi$  is unique up to a multiplicative constant of modulus 1. In this case, we will say that  $\varphi$  is the extremal function for  $\mathcal{M}$ . Similarly, we will say that  $\varphi$  is the extremal function for a function  $f \in D$ , if  $[f] = [\varphi]$ . If  $\varphi, h \in D$  where  $\varphi$  is D-extremal and h is cyclic in D, then since  $\varphi$  is a contractive multiplier ([55]) one easily checks that  $\varphi$  is the extremal function for  $\varphi h$ . Thus, in order to prove the Theorem it will suffice to show that there is an extremal function  $\varphi$  and an analytic function h such that  $h \notin D$ , but  $f = h\varphi \in D$  with  $[\varphi] = [f]$ .

For  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  consider the function

$$g(z) = \log \frac{e}{1-z} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{n}.$$

Then there is a C > 0 such that

(10.1) 
$$\log \frac{e}{2} \le \log \frac{e}{|1-z|} \le |g(z)| \le C \log \frac{e}{|1-z|}$$

and hence g has an analytic square root,  $h = \sqrt{g}$ . Then

$$|h'(z)|^2 \ge \frac{1}{4C\left(\log\frac{e}{|1-z|}\right)|1-z|^2}$$

and hence  $h \notin D$ , the Dirichlet space, as the function on the right is not integrable on  $\mathbb{D}$ .

For  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  and |w| = 1 let  $P_z(w) = \frac{1-|z|^2}{|1-\overline{w}z|^2}$  be the Poisson kernel for  $\mathbb{D}$ , and use

$$D_w(\varphi) = \int_{\mathbb{D}} |\varphi'(z)|^2 P_z(w) \frac{dA}{\pi} = \int_{|z|=1} \frac{|\varphi(w) - \varphi(z)|^2}{|w - z|^2} \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$$

to denote the local Dirichlet integral of  $\varphi \in D$ , see [54]. Then, if 0 < r < 1 and  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ 

$$|h(rz)|^2 \le C \log \frac{e}{|1 - rz|}$$
  
=  $C \int_{|w|=1} \log \frac{e}{|1 - rw|} P_z(w) \frac{|dw|}{2\pi}$ 

and hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{D}} |h(rz)\varphi'(z)|^2 \frac{dA}{\pi} \le C \int_{|w|=1} \log \frac{e}{|1-rw|} \left( \int_{\mathbb{D}} |\varphi'(z)|^2 P_z(w) \frac{dA}{\pi} \right) \frac{|dw|}{2\pi} 
\le C \int_{|w|=1} \log \frac{e}{|1-rw|} D_w(\varphi) \frac{|dw|}{2\pi} 
< K,$$

where by Proposition 4.5 of [58] the constant K is independent of 0 < r < 1, whenever  $\varphi$  is a Dirichlet extremal function. By Fatou's lemma this implies that  $h\varphi' \in L_a^2$ , the Bergman space.

Now let  $\varphi$  be the extremal function for the invariant subspace  $\mathcal{M} = D \cap \psi H^2$ , where  $\psi(z) = e^{-\frac{1+z}{1-z}}$ . Note that  $\mathcal{M} \neq (0)$  since one easily checks that  $(1-z)^2\psi \in \mathcal{M}$ . Then  $\varphi = \psi \varphi_1$  for some  $\varphi_1 \in H^2$ . By use of Carleson's formula for the Dirichlet integral, [15] (also see [54] or Theorems 7.6.1 and 7.6.7 in [24]), we see that  $\varphi_1 \in D$  and

$$\|\varphi\|_D^2 = \int_{|z|=1} \frac{2}{|1-z|^2} |\varphi_1(z)|^2 \frac{|dz|}{2\pi} + \|\varphi_1\|_D^2.$$

Thus,  $\varphi(z)/(1-z) \in H^2 \subseteq L_a^2$ .

For  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  and 0 < r < 1 we have from (10.1) that

$$|h'(rz)|^2 \le \frac{1}{4\log\frac{e}{2}} \frac{1}{|1-rz|^2} \le \frac{1}{\log\frac{e}{2}} \frac{1}{|1-z|^2}.$$

This implies that for all 0 < r < 1

$$||h'_r \varphi||_{L_a^2}^2 \le \frac{1}{\log \frac{e}{2}} ||\frac{\varphi}{1-z}||_{L_a^2}^2,$$

where  $h_r(z) = h(rz)$ .

Hence  $f = h\varphi \in D$  since  $(h\varphi)' = h'\varphi + h\varphi' \in L_a^2$ . Furthermore, the above estimates show that  $||h_r\varphi||_D$  is bounded independently of r and hence  $h_r\varphi \to f$  weakly in D. Thus  $f \in [\varphi]$ . The inclusion  $\varphi \in [f]$  follows from Corollary 5.5 of [54] since |h| is bounded below on  $\mathbb{D}$ . Hence  $[\varphi] = [f]$ , i.e.  $\varphi$  is the extremal function for f.

Next we establish that subinner functions in the Dirichlet space in a certain sense differ drastically from their  $H^2(\mathbb{D})$ -analogues.

**Theorem 10.2.** Let D be the Dirichlet space. If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(D)$  is non-constant with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(D)} \leq 1$ , then  $\dim \ker(I - M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi}) \leq 1$ .

It follows from this, that if  $\varphi$  is subinner in the Dirichlet space, and if  $\varphi = \varphi_1 \varphi_2$  for some contractive multipliers  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$ , then one of the two factors must be constant. Indeed, let  $0 \neq f \in D$  be such that  $||f|| = ||\varphi f||$ , then

$$||f|| = ||\varphi_1 \varphi_2 f|| \le ||\varphi_2 f|| \le ||f||.$$

Thus,  $\|\varphi_2 f\| = \|f\|$ , and similarly  $\|\varphi_1 f\| = \|f\|$ . Then if  $\varphi_1$  is not a constant, then as  $\varphi_2 f, f \in \ker(I - M_{\varphi_1}^* M_{\varphi_1})$ , by the Theorem we must have that f and  $\varphi_2 f$  are linearly dependent, hence  $\varphi_2$  must be constant.

This property of Dirichlet subinner functions is even true for their unique lifts to left inner multipliers of  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ : Let  $u:\mathbb{D}\to \mathrm{ball}(\ell^2)$  a function satisfying  $\frac{1}{z\overline{w}}\log\frac{1}{1-z\overline{w}}=\frac{1}{1-\langle u(z),u(w)\rangle_{\ell^2}}$ . Then as in Section 6 u induces an isometric mapping  $U:D\to\mathcal{F}_d^2$  with  $d=\infty$  such that  $U^*=C_u$ . We write  $\mathcal{H}_D$  for the range of U.

Now, if  $\varphi$  is subinner in the Dirichlet space, then in Theorem 6.2 we proved that there is a unique left inner multiplier  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}_d^{\infty,\ell}$  such that  $\varphi = \Phi \circ u$ . If  $\Phi = \Phi_1 \Phi_2$  for left inner multipliers  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2$ , let  $\varphi_j = \Phi_j \circ u$  for j = 1, 2. Then each  $\varphi_j$  defines a contractive multiplier of D with  $\varphi = \varphi_1 \varphi_2$ . By the above we conclude that one of the two factors is a constant of modulus 1. Thus its value at 0 has modulus 1, which implies that its lift has value of modulus 1 at the origin. Thus, one of the left inner factors  $\Phi_1$  or  $\Phi_2$  must be constant.

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(D)$  be non-constant with  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(D)} \leq 1$ . We will show that every nonzero function in  $\ker(I - M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi})$  must be free outer. Then, if  $\ker(I - M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi})$  contained two linearly independent functions

f and g, then some non-trivial linear combination of f and g must be zero at the origin. Hence  $\ker(I-M_{\varphi}^*M_{\varphi})$  would contain a nontrivial non-cyclic function. Then our claim will contradict Theorem 6.3.

Thus, let  $0 \neq f \in \ker(I - M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi})$ .

Then f has a subinner/free outer factorization  $f = \psi g$ , and as in the proof of Corollary 1.7 we see that the free outer factor  $g \in \ker(I - M_{\varphi}^* M_{\varphi})$ . Note that the associated vector states satisfy  $P_f = P_g$ . Under this hypothesis it is easy to see that Lemma 5.3 of [39] implies that

$$||pg||_D^2 - ||pf||_D^2 = \int_{|z|=1} D_z(p)(|g(z)|^2 - |f(z)|^2) \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$$

for every polynomial p. Here  $D_z(p)$  denotes the local Dirichlet integral of p,

$$D_z(p) = \int_{|w|=1} \left| \frac{p(z) - p(w)}{z - w} \right|^2 \frac{|dw|}{2\pi}.$$

Now let  $p_n$  be a sequence of polynomials such that  $p_ng \to \varphi g$  in the Dirichlet norm. Then  $p_ng \to \varphi g$  in  $H^2$  and by possibly considering a subsequence, we may assume that  $p_n(w) \to \varphi(w)$  for a.e.  $w \in \mathbb{T}$ . Then by Fatou's lemma we have for a.e.  $z \in \mathbb{T}$  that  $D_z(\varphi) \leq \lim\inf_{n\to\infty} D_z(p_n)$ . Thus, substituting  $f = \psi g$  and using Fatou's lemma again we obtain

$$0 \le \int_{|z|=1} D_z(\varphi) (1 - |\psi|^2) |g|^2 \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$$

$$\le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{|z|=1} D_z(p_n) (1 - |\psi|^2) |g|^2 \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$$

$$= \liminf_{n \to \infty} ||p_n g||_D^2 - ||p_n f||_D^2$$

$$= ||\varphi g||_D^2 - ||\varphi f||_D^2 = 0$$

Since  $\varphi$  is not constant it follows that  $D_z(\varphi) > 0$  for a.e.  $z \in \mathbb{T}$  and since  $g \neq 0$  this implies that  $|\psi(z)| = 1$  for a.e.  $z \in \mathbb{T}$ . Thus,  $\psi$  is an inner function, but it is well-known that the only inner functions that are contractive multipliers of the Dirichlet space are constant. Indeed, this follows since  $\|\psi\|_{H^2} = 1 \geq \|\psi\|_D$  for such  $\psi$ . This implies that f is free outer.

**Example 10.3.** Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . We will determine the subinner/free outer factorization of  $g(z) = z - \lambda$  in D.

If  $\lambda = 0$ , then  $\varphi(z) = \frac{z}{\sqrt{2}}$  is an extremal function in D, hence it is subinner with free outer factor  $f(z) = \sqrt{2}$ . If  $\lambda \neq 0$ , then note that

the Sarason function of g equals  $V_g(z) = 2 + |\lambda|^2 - 2\overline{\lambda}z$ . Furthermore, we have

$$[g]_* = \{a + bz : a, b \in \mathbb{C}\}.$$

Thus, the subinner/free outer factorization of g is of the form  $g = \varphi f$ , where f(z) = a + bz with a > 0 and  $V_f = V_g$ . We calculate that the only possible f's are  $f(z) = \sqrt{2} - \frac{\overline{\lambda}}{\sqrt{2}}z$  and  $f(z) = -\frac{\overline{\lambda}}{|\lambda|}g(z)$ . Maximizing the value of f(0) we conclude that g is a free outer function, if and only if  $|\lambda| \geq \sqrt{2}$ . If  $|\lambda| < \sqrt{2}$ , then  $\sqrt{2} - \frac{\overline{\lambda}}{\sqrt{2}}z$  is the free outer factor of g, and  $\varphi(z) = \sqrt{2} \, \frac{z - \lambda}{2 - \overline{\lambda}z}$  is the subinner factor.

**Theorem 10.4.** There is a sequence of real numbers  $R_n > 1$  such that whenever p is a polynomial of degree  $\leq n$  that is free outer in D, then  $p(z) \neq 0$  for all  $|z| < R_n$ .

*Proof.* It is known that the reproducing kernel of the Dirichlet space is of the form  $k_w(z) = \frac{1}{1-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k \overline{w}^k z^k}$  for coefficients that satisfy  $c_k > 0$  for all  $k \geq 1$ ; this can be seen using a lemma of Kaluza, see Lemma 7.38 in [2] and its proof. Since  $k_z(z) \to \infty$  as  $|z| \to 1$  we must have  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k = 1$ . For  $n \geq 1$  set

$$k_w^n(z) = \frac{1}{1 - \sum_{k=1}^n c_k \overline{w}^k z^k}.$$

It is easy to verify that  $k_w^n(z) = \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_k(n) \overline{w}^k z^k$  where  $a_k(n) = \frac{1}{k+1}$  for all  $0 \le k \le n$ .  $k^n$  is a normalized complete Pick kernel of a Hilbert function space  $\mathcal{H}_n$ . For all polynomials of degree  $\le n$  we have  $\|p\|_D^2 = \|p\|_{\mathcal{H}_n}^2 = \sum_{k=0}^n (k+1) |\hat{p}(k)|^2$ . This implies that the Sarason functions  $V_p$  of polynomials p of degree  $\le n$  are the same, whether they are computed with respect to D or with respect to  $\mathcal{H}_n$ . Since free outer polynomials p are solutions to the extremal problem  $\sup\{|q(0)|: V_q = V_p, q \in [p]_*\}$  it follows that such a polynomial of degree  $\le n$  is free outer in D, if and only if it is free outer in  $\mathcal{H}_n$ .

 $k^n$  extends to be defined in a disc of radius  $R_n > 1$ , and hence any cyclic function in  $\mathcal{H}_n$  cannot have any zeros in the open disc of radius  $R_n$ . Since free outer functions must be cyclic (by Theorem 6.3), the result follows.

# 11. THE DRURY-ARVESON SPACE

The Dirichlet space embeds in the Drury-Arveson space  $H_{\infty}^2$ , see the discussion at the beginning of Section 6. Under this embedding the function f(z) = z - 1 that is cyclic in D can be seen to be sent to the function  $h(z_1, z_2, \dots) = \sqrt{2}z_1 - 1$ , which is not cyclic in  $H_{\infty}^2$ . Then h is

not free outer in  $H_{\infty}^2$  by Theorem 6.3, and hence f cannot be free outer in D by an argument similar to Lemma 6.1. Thus, it is of interest to show that there are cyclic functions in  $H_d^2$  that are not free outer.

**Example 11.1.** If  $d \ge 2$ , the functions  $f(z) = 1 \pm 2z_1z_2$  are cyclic in  $H_d^2$ , but not free outer. In fact, in the case of  $f(z) = 1 + 2z_1z_2$  we have

$$f(z) = \frac{1 + 2z_1z_2}{\sqrt{2}(1 + z_1z_2)}\sqrt{2}(1 + z_1z_2)$$

where  $g(z) = \sqrt{2}(1+z_1z_2)$  is free outer, and  $\varphi(z) = \frac{1+2z_1z_2}{\sqrt{2}(1+z_1z_2)}$  is subinner.

*Proof.* Fix  $d \geq 2$  and note that  $f(z) \neq 0$  for  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . Hence for  $0 \leq r < 1$  the functions  $g_r(z) = \frac{1}{1+r2z_1z_2}$  are analytic in a neighborhood of  $\overline{\mathbb{B}_d}$ . Thus,  $g_r \in \text{Mult}(H_d^2)$  and  $(g_r f)(z) = \frac{f(z)}{1+r2z_1z_2} \in [f]$  for each  $0 \leq r < 1$ . Furthermore,

$$\left\| \frac{f(z)}{1 + r2z_1 z_2} \right\|_{H_d^2} = \left\| 1 + (1 - r) \frac{2z_1 z_2}{1 + r2z_1 z_2} \right\|_{H_d^2}$$

$$\leq 1 + (1 - r) \left\| \frac{2z_1 z_2}{1 + r2z_1 z_2} \right\|_{H_d^2}$$

and by Stirling's formula,

$$\left\| \frac{2z_1 z_2}{1 + r2z_1 z_2} \right\|_{H_d^2}^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r^{2n} 4^{n+1} \frac{((n+1)!)^2}{(2n+2)!} \lesssim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r^{2n} (n+1)^{1/2}$$
$$\leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r^{2n} (n+1)$$
$$= \frac{1}{(1 - r^2)^2}.$$

Hence  $g_r f$  is bounded in  $H_d^2$  and so  $g_r f \to 1$  weakly and f is cyclic in  $H_d^2$ .

Next we compute the subinner/free outer factorization of f:

 $[1+2z_1z_2]_*=\{h(z)=c_0+c_1z_1+c_2z_2+c_3z_1z_2:c_j\in\mathbb{C}\}$  and one calculates

$$\begin{split} \langle h, k_w h \rangle &= \\ &= |c_0|^2 + |c_1|^2 + |c_2|^2 + \frac{|c_3|^2}{2} + (\overline{c_0}c_1 + \frac{c_3\overline{c_2}}{2})w_1 + (\overline{c_0}c_2 + \frac{c_3\overline{c_1}}{2})w_2 + \overline{c_0}c_3w_1w_2. \end{split}$$

So  $\langle h, k_w h \rangle = \langle f, k_w f \rangle$  for all w, if and only if

$$|c_0|^2 + |c_1|^2 + |c_2|^2 + \frac{|c_3|^2}{2} = 3,$$

$$\overline{c_0}c_1 + \frac{c_3\overline{c_2}}{2} = 0,$$

$$\overline{c_0}c_2 + \frac{c_3\overline{c_1}}{2} = 0,$$

$$\overline{c_0}c_3 = 2.$$

One further computes that  $c_1 = c_2 = 0$  and  $(c_0, c_3) = (1, 2), (\sqrt{2}, \sqrt{2})$ are the only solutions with  $c_0 > 0$ . This implies that

$$[1 + 2z_1z_2]_* \cap \mathcal{E}_f = \{\alpha f, \beta g : |\alpha| = |\beta| = 1\}.$$

Since q(0) > f(0) we conclude that q must be the free outer factor of f, hence the function  $\varphi$  as above must be the subinner factor of f.

Thus,  $1+z_1z_2$  and  $1-z_1z_2$  are free outer. We will now show that the product  $f(z_1,z_2)=1-z_1^2z_2^2$  is free outer as well. Since  $[1-z_1^2z_2^2]_*$  is 9-dimensional, a proof along the lines as above would seem to involve some lengthy calculations. The following different approach uses Theorem 5.3 and Lemma 6.1, which states that a function is free outer if and only if it is left or right outer in  $\mathcal{F}_d^2$ .

Let  $S = \{1122, 1212, 1221, 2112, 2121, 2211\}$ , so the free version of f

is  $F(x_1, x_2) = 1 - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{w \in S} x^w$ . Let  $\Phi = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{w \in S} x^w$ . Then  $||R_{\Phi}|| \le 1$ . If  $R_{\Phi}^* H = H$  for some  $H \in \mathcal{F}_d^2$ , then  $R_{\Phi}H = H$  by Lemma 1.3, and a look at power series expansions yields H=0. Hence  $I-R_{\Phi}^*$  is injective, so  $R_F=I-R_{\Phi}$ has dense range. Hence F is left outer.

**Example 11.2.** The functions  $g_j(z_1, z_2) = (1 - z_j)$  are free outer in  $H_2^2$  for j = 1, 2, but the product  $(1 - z_1)(1 - z_2)$  is not.

It is easy to see that each  $g_j$  is free outer. For example, one verifies that if a > 0 and  $b \in \mathbb{C}$  so that  $g(z_1, z_2) = a + bz_1 \in [g_1]_*$ , then gsatisfies  $P_g = P_{g_1}$  only if  $g = g_1$ .

In order to prove that  $g(z_1, z_2) = (1 - z_1)(1 - z_2)$  is not free outer, we consider for a > 0 the one-parameter family of functions

$$f_a(z_1, z_2) = a - \frac{3a}{1 + 2a^2}(z_1 + z_2) + \frac{z_1 z_2}{a}.$$

Note that  $f_1 = g$ . We will show that there is a > 1 such that  $V_{f_a} = V_g$ . Then  $|f_a(0)| > |g(0)|$  and hence g cannot be free outer.

Set

$$r(a) = ||f_a||^2 = a^2 + 18 \frac{a^2}{(1+2a^2)^2} + \frac{1}{2a^2}.$$

Then one calculates that for every a > 0 we have

$$V_{f_a}(z) = r(a) - 3(z_1 + z_2) + 2z_1z_2.$$

Thus, we will have  $V_{f_a} = V_g$ , if and only if r(a) = r(1). Since r is continuous and  $r(a) \to \infty$  as  $a \to \infty$ , the result follows from the fact that r'(1) = -1/3 < 0.

# 12. Common free outer factors

In the following the existence of a common factorization of a sequence of functions goes back to work of Jury and Martin [36].

**Theorem 12.1.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_k$  be a Hilbert function space with normalized complete Pick kernel k and let  $\{f_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_k$  with  $0 \neq \sum_{n \geq 0} ||f_n||^2 < \infty$ .

Then there is a free outer function  $g \in \mathcal{H}_k$  and a sequence of multipliers  $\{\varphi_n\} \subseteq \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})_k$  such that

- (i)  $f_n = \varphi_n g$  for each n, (ii)  $||g||^2 = \sum_n ||f_n||^2$ , (iii)  $\sum_n ||\varphi_n h||^2 \le ||h||^2$  for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ .

The factorization is unique if we assume that  $g(z_0) > 0$ . Here  $z_0$  is the point of normalization of the reproducing kernel k.

*Proof.* Theorem 1.1 of [36] shows the existence of a common factorization  $f_n = \varphi_n g$  that satisfies conditions (i),(ii), and (iii). By Theorem 1.4  $g = \psi g_0$  for some free outer function  $g_0$  with  $||g_0||^2 = ||g||^2 = \sum_n ||f_n||^2$ , and a subinner function  $\psi$ . Then  $f_n = \tilde{\varphi}_n g_0$  with  $\tilde{\varphi}_n = \varphi_n \overline{\psi}$ . Thus, this factorization satisfies (i) and (ii), and it satisfies (iii) since  $\psi$  is a contractive multiplier.

In order to prove the uniqueness of the factorization note that conditions (i),(ii),(iii) and Lemma 1.3 imply that  $g = \sum_n M_{\varphi_n}^* M_{\varphi_n} g$  and hence

(12.1)

$$\sum_{n} \langle \psi f_n, f_n \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle \psi \varphi_n g, \varphi_n g \rangle = \langle \psi g, g \rangle \text{ for every } \psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}).$$

Thus by Theorem 1.5, if  $g(z_0) > 0$ , then g is the unique free outer function satisfying (12.1). Since free outer functions are cyclic, we must have  $g(x) \neq 0$  for all x. This implies that the  $\varphi_n$ 's are uniquely determined as well.

We will call g the common free outer factor of the functions  $f_n$ . Let  $\tau c(\mathcal{H})$  denote the trace class operators in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , and write  $||L||_{\tau c}$  for the trace norm of  $L \in \tau c(\mathcal{H})$ .

Corollary 12.2. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a normalized complete Pick space. If  $L \in \tau_c(\mathcal{H})$ , then there are  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that f is free outer,  $||f|||g|| \le ||L||_{\tau_c}$ , and  $\operatorname{tr}(LM_{\varphi}) = \langle \varphi f, g \rangle$  for all  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

In particular, if  $f_n \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $\sum_n \|f_n\|^2 < \infty$ , then there is a free outer function f such that  $P_f(\varphi) = \langle \varphi f, f \rangle = \sum_n \langle \varphi f_n, f_n \rangle$  for all  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , and hence  $V_f = \sum_n V_{f_n}$ .

The Corollary implies that  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  has what is known as property  $\mathbb{A}_1(1)$ . As mentioned in the Introduction the result is known and our proof is in principle the same as in [20]. But the proof shows that with the results and concepts from this paper one can give a proof in terms of factorizations in Hilbert function spaces.

*Proof.* Since L is a trace class operator, there are  $f_n, g_n \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $||L||_{\tau c} = \sum_n ||f_n|| ||g_n||$  and such that  $\operatorname{tr}(LM_{\varphi}) = \sum_n \langle \varphi f_n, g_n \rangle$  for all  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ .

We may assume that  $||f_n|| = ||g_n||$  for each n, then  $||L||_{\tau c} = \sum_n ||f_n||^2 < \infty$ . Let f be the common free outer factor of the  $f_n$ 's, then  $f_n = \varphi_n f$  for some multipliers  $\varphi_n$  satisfying (iii) of Theorem 12.1, i.e. the  $\varphi_n$ 's define a contractive column operator. The adjoint of that column operator is contractive also, hence  $g = \sum_n M_{\varphi_n}^* g_n$  converges in  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $||g||^2 \le \sum_n ||g_n||^2$ . Thus  $||f|| ||g|| \le \sum_n ||f_n|| ||g_n|| = ||L||_{\tau c}$  and whenever  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  we have

$$\langle \varphi f, g \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle \varphi f, M_{\varphi_n}^* g_n \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle \varphi \varphi_n f, g_n \rangle = \sum_{n} \langle \varphi f_n, g_n \rangle = \operatorname{tr}(LM_{\varphi}).$$

If  $f_n = g_n$  for all n, then as in the preceding proof,  $f = \sum_n M_{\varphi_n}^* f_n = g$ .

It is well known that

$$\mathcal{A} = \{ M_{\varphi} : \varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}) \}$$

is WOT-closed and hence weak-\* closed in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  and that  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  is isometrically isomorphic to the dual of  $\tau c(\mathcal{H})/^{\perp}\mathcal{A}$ . For  $L \in \tau c(\mathcal{H})$  we let [L] denote the equivalence class of L in  $\tau c(\mathcal{H})/^{\perp}\mathcal{A}$ , then by the Corollary we have

(12.2) 
$$||[L]|| = \inf\{||f|| ||g|| : [L] = [f \otimes g]\}.$$

Here, we write  $f \otimes g$  for the rank one operator  $h \mapsto \langle h, g \rangle f$ , and  $\operatorname{tr}(M_{\varphi}(f \otimes g)) = \langle \varphi f, g \rangle$ .

**Theorem 12.3.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a normalized complete Pick space, and let  $L \in \tau c(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $[L] \neq 0$ . Then the infimum in (12.2) is attained, if and only if there is a subinner/free outer pair  $(\varphi, f)$  such that [L] = $[f \otimes \varphi f].$ 

Furthermore, if this happens, then the weak\*-continuous functional on  $Mult(\mathcal{H})$  induced by L attains its norm at the subinner function  $\varphi$ .

*Proof.* Let  $L \in \tau c(\mathcal{H})$  and suppose that there are  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $[L] = [f \otimes g]$  and  $||[L]|| = ||f|| ||g|| \neq 0$ . Note that if f is not free outer, then  $f = \psi f_0$  for some subinner/free outer pair  $(\psi, f_0)$ . Then for all  $u \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  we have  $\langle uf, g \rangle = \langle uf_0, M_{\psi}^*g \rangle$  and  $||f_0|| ||M_{\psi}^*g|| \leq ||f|| ||g||$ . Thus, without loss of generality we may assume that f is free outer with  $f(z_0) > 0$ , and we will also assume that ||f|| = ||g||.

Then by the Hahn-Banach Theorem there is  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$  and

$$||f||^2 = ||f|| ||g|| = \langle \varphi f, g \rangle \le ||\varphi f|| ||g|| \le ||f|| ||g|| = ||f||^2.$$

Thus, we have equality in the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, hence  $\varphi f =$  $\alpha g$  for some  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ . It is easily seen that  $\alpha = 1$ . Hence  $[L] = [f \otimes \varphi f]$ , and the equality above implies  $||f|| = ||\varphi f||$ , i.e.  $(\varphi, f)$  is a subinner/free outer pair. Furthermore, we see that the functional induced by [L] attains its norm at  $\varphi$ .

The proof of the converse is trivial.

It turns out that there is a modified subinner/free outer factorization for functions in all spaces whose reproducing kernel has a complete Pick factor.

Corollary 12.4. Let  $\mathcal{H}_k$  and  $\mathcal{H}_s$  be separable Hilbert function spaces on a set X such that s is a complete Pick kernel, which is normalized at  $z_0 \in X$ , and such that k/s is positive definite.

If  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k \setminus \{0\}$ , then there is a unique pair of functions  $\varphi \in$  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_s, \mathcal{H}_k)$  and  $g \in \mathcal{H}_s$  such that

- (i)  $f = \varphi g$ ,
- (ii)  $||f||_{\mathcal{H}_k} = ||g||_{\mathcal{H}_s}$ , (iii) g is free outer with  $g(z_0) > 0$ ,
- (iv)  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_s,\mathcal{H}_k)} \leq 1$ .

*Proof.* The condition that k/s is positive definite implies that there is a sequence of functions  $\{g_n\}$  on X such that  $k_w(z) = \sum_{n>0} g_n(z)g_n(w)s_w(z)$ . Then the operator  $T: \mathcal{H}_k \to \bigoplus_{n>0} \mathcal{H}_s, k_w \to \{\overline{g_n(w)}s_w\}$  extends to be isometric. Furthermore,  $T^*: \bigoplus_{n\geq 0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_s \to \mathcal{H}_k, T^*\{h_n\} = \sum_{n\geq 0} g_n h_n$  is a contraction.

Let  $f \in \mathcal{H}_k$  with  $f \neq 0$ . Then the functions  $f_n \in \mathcal{H}_s$  defined by  $Tf = \{f_n\}$  will satisfy  $||f||^2_{\mathcal{H}_k} = \sum_n ||f_n||^2_{\mathcal{H}_s}$  and  $f = T^*Tf = \sum_{n\geq 0} g_n f_n$ . Now let g be the common free outer factor of the  $f_n$ 's,  $\varphi_n = f_n/g$ , and  $\varphi = \sum_{n\geq 0} g_n \varphi_n$ . Then  $||g||_{\mathcal{H}_s} = ||f||_{\mathcal{H}_k}$ , and by the fact that  $T^*$  is a contraction and (iii) of Theorem 12.1, we have for all  $h \in \mathcal{H}_s$ 

$$\|\varphi h\|_{\mathcal{H}_k}^2 = \|\sum_{n>0} g_n \varphi_n h\|_{\mathcal{H}_k}^2 \le \sum_{n>0} \|\varphi_n h\|_{\mathcal{H}_s}^2 \le \|h\|_{\mathcal{H}_s}^2.$$

Thus,  $\varphi$  is a contractive multiplier from  $\mathcal{H}_s$  to  $\mathcal{H}_k$ .

The uniqueness follows along similar lines as before. If  $f = \varphi g = \varphi_0 g_0$  for free outer functions  $g_0, g \in \mathcal{H}_s$  with  $||f||_{\mathcal{H}_k} = ||g||_{\mathcal{H}_s} = ||g_0||_{\mathcal{H}_s}$  and contractive multipliers  $\varphi, \varphi_0$ , then  $M_{\varphi}^* f = g$ . Hence for all  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_s)$  we have

$$\langle \psi g, g \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_s} = \langle \psi g, M_{\varphi}^* f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_s} = \langle \psi f, f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_k}.$$

Similarly for  $\varphi_0$  and  $g_0$ , hence  $\langle \psi g, g \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_s} = \langle \psi g_0, g_0 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_s}$ , and  $g = g_0$  now follows from Theorem 1.5. Hence  $\varphi = \varphi_0$  since free outer functions have no zeros.

For certain spaces on the disc the previous Corollary can be proved directly and this proof extends to cover certain Banach spaces. Let  $1 \le t < \infty$  and let  $\mu$  be a positive Borel measure that is supported in the closed unit disc. Then  $P^t(\mu)$  denotes the closure of the polynomials in  $L^t(\mu)$ . For background on these spaces see [9].

**Theorem 12.5.** Let  $1 \le t < \infty$ , suppose that every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}$  is a bounded point evaluation for  $P^t(\mu)$ , and that  $P^t(\mu)$  is irreducible, meaning that  $P^t(\mu)$  contains no non-trivial characteristic functions.

Then every  $g \in P^t(\mu) \setminus \{0\}$  has a factorization  $g = f\varphi$  such that

- (i)  $f \in H^t(\mathbb{T})$  is an outer function with  $||g||_{P^t(\mu)} = ||f||_{H^t(\mathbb{T})}$ , and
- (ii)  $||u\varphi||_{P^t(\mu)} \le ||u||_{H^t(\mathbb{T})}$  for every  $u \in H^t(\mathbb{T})$ .

If we also assume f(0) > 0, then the two conditions determine f and  $\varphi$  uniquely.

Thus,  $M_{\varphi}$  is a contractive multiplier from  $H^{t}(\mathbb{T})$  into  $P^{t}(\mu)$  that attains its norm at the function f, so  $\varphi$  is subinner in the previous terminology. Let

$$\mathcal{E}_g = \{ h \in H^t(\mathbb{T}) : \int_{|z|=1} z^n |h|^t \frac{|dz|}{2\pi} = \int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} z^n |g|^t d\mu(z) \text{ for all } n \ge 0 \}.$$

It will follow from the proof that f satisfies

$$|f(0)| = \sup\{|h(0)| : h \in \mathcal{E}_g\},\$$

i.e. f is free outer in the previous terminology.

*Proof.* We first show the existence of the factorization. Let  $g \in P^t(\mu)$ ,  $g \neq 0$ . Note that there are really two versions of g, an analytic function that is defined everywhere in the open unit disc, and a  $L^t(\mu)$ -function that is defined a.e.  $[\mu]$ . It is known that the two agree a.e.  $[\mu]$  in  $\mathbb{D}$  and that  $\mu|\mathbb{T}$  is absolutely continuous, see e.g. [9].

Define

$$h(e^{i\theta}) = \int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} \frac{1 - |z|^2}{|1 - \overline{z}e^{i\theta}|^2} |g(z)|^t d\mu(z).$$

Then  $h \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  with  $||h||_{L^1(\mathbb{T})} = ||g||_{P^t(\mu)}^t$ .

For  $u \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  write

$$P[u](z) = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1 - |z|^2}{|1 - \overline{z}e^{i\theta}|^2} u(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}$$

for its Poisson integral. Note that for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  and every polynomial p we have  $|p(z)|^t \leq P[|p|^t](z)$ . Hence for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}$  we have

$$|p(\lambda)g(\lambda)|^t \le c \int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} |p(z)g(z)|^t d\mu$$

$$\le c \int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} P[|p|^t](z) |g(z)|^t d\mu$$

$$= c \int_0^{2\pi} |p(e^{i\theta})|^t h(e^{i\theta}) \frac{d\theta}{2\pi}.$$

Since  $g \neq 0$  there must be  $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}$  such that  $g(\lambda) \neq 0$ . Then Szegő's Theorem implies that h must be log-integrable; see for instance Theorem V.8.2 and the discussion in Chapter II.3 in [27]. Therefore we can define an outer function  $f \in H^t$  such that  $|f|^t = h$  a.e. on  $\mathbb{T}$ . Then  $||g||_{P^t(\mu)} = ||f||_{H^t(\mathbb{T})}$ . The measure  $|f|^t \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$  is the sweep of  $|g(z)|^t d\mu(z)$  to  $\mathbb{T}$ .

We now define an analytic function  $\varphi$  in the open unit disc by  $\varphi = g/f$  and we can also define  $\varphi = g/f$   $[\mu]$  a.e. on  $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ .

The later part of the previous string of inequalities shows that

$$||pg||_{P^t(\mu)}^t \le ||pf||_{H^t}^t$$

for every polynomial p. Let  $u \in H^t$ . Since f is outer, there is a sequence of polynomials such that  $p_n f \to u$  in  $H^t$ , and we may assume that  $p_n(e^{i\theta})f(e^{i\theta}) \to u(e^{i\theta})$  a.e. It is then clear that  $p_n(\lambda) \to \frac{u}{f}(\lambda) \mu$  a.e. Hence Fatou's lemma implies

$$||u\varphi||_{P^t(\mu)}^t \le ||u||_{H^t}^t.$$

Next we show the uniqueness. Suppose f and  $\varphi$  satisfy the two conditions with f(0) > 0. By the second condition we have  $||pg||_{p^t(\mu)}^t \le$ 

 $||pf||_{H^t(\mathbb{T})}^t$  for every polynomial. We take  $p(z)=1+az^n$  and use  $|1+az^n|^t=1+t\text{Re }az^n+O(|a|^2)$  and obtain

$$\int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} (1 + t \operatorname{Re} \, az^n + O(|a|^2)) |g|^t d\mu \le \int_{|z|=1} (1 + t \operatorname{Re} \, az^n + O(|a|^2)) |f|^t \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}.$$

Now write  $a = re^{i\theta}$ . Then use the first condition and subtract  $||g||_{P^t(\mu)}^t = ||f||_{H^t(\mathbb{T})}^t$  on each side, divide by r and let  $r \to 0$ . After rearranging we obtain

Re 
$$e^{i\theta} \left( \int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} z^n |g|^t d\mu - \int_{|z|=1} z^n |f|^t \frac{|dz|}{2\pi} \right) \le 0$$
 for all  $e^{i\theta}$  and all  $n \ge 1$ .

Thus  $\int_{\overline{\mathbb{D}}} z^n |g|^t d\mu = \int_{|z|=1} z^n |f|^t \frac{|dz|}{2\pi}$  for all integers n. This shows that  $|f|^t$  is uniquely determined by the two conditions, hence since f is outer it is uniquely determined. Then  $\varphi$  is also uniquely determined.

#### 13. Weak products

Proof of Theorem 1.12. By scaling h, we may assume that  $||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = 1$ . As mentioned in the Introduction, by the factorization result of Jury and Martin and the fact that  $\mathcal{H}$  has the column-row property with constant 1 (Theorem 1.3 of [36] and Theorem 1.2 of [31]), there exist  $g_1, g_2 \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $||g_1|| = ||g_2|| = 1$  and

$$h = g_1 g_2 = \left(\frac{g_1 + g_2}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{i(g_1 - g_2)}{2}\right)^2.$$

Set  $f_1 = (g_1 + g_2)/2$  and  $f_2 = i(g_1 - g_2)/2$ . By the parallelogram law,  $||f_1||^2 + ||f_2||^2 = 1$ .

By Theorem 12.1 there is a contractive column multiplier  $\begin{bmatrix} \varphi_1 & \varphi_2 \end{bmatrix}^T$  and a free outer function  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  with ||f|| = 1 and  $f_i = \varphi_i h$  for i = 1, 2. Thus,

$$h = (\varphi_1^2 + \varphi_2^2)f^2 = \begin{bmatrix} \varphi_1 & \varphi_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \varphi_1 \\ \varphi_2 \end{bmatrix} f^2.$$

Let  $\varphi = \varphi_1^2 + \varphi_2^2 \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , so that  $h = \varphi f^2$ . The column-row property with constant 1 implies that  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \leq 1$ . Observe that

$$1 = ||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = ||\varphi f^2||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} \le ||\varphi f|| ||f|| \le ||f||^2 \le 1$$

so equality holds throughout. In particular,  $\|\varphi f\| = \|f\|$ , so  $(\varphi, f)$  is a subinner/free outer pair, and  $\|h\|_{\mathcal{H}\odot\mathcal{H}} = \|f\|^2$ . Finally, note that  $\varphi$  is in particular a contractive multiplier of  $\mathcal{H}\odot\mathcal{H}$ , so

$$||h||_{\mathcal{H}\odot\mathcal{H}} \le ||f^2||_{\mathcal{H}\odot\mathcal{H}} \le ||f||^2 = ||h||_{\mathcal{H}\odot\mathcal{H}},$$

hence  $||h||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}} = ||f^2||_{\mathcal{H} \odot \mathcal{H}}$ .

## 14. Subinner functions in Weighted Dirichlet spaces

We explained in the Introduction that subinner functions in normalized complete Pick spaces are extreme points of the unit ball of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . In this Section we will prove a simple sufficient condition for a function to be subinner. As a Corollary we will see that for example in the Dirichlet space subinner functions are quite common.

Our approach is based on an observation of Clouâtre and Davidson, [16, Lemma 7.4]. It starts with the fact that an operator  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  attains its norm, whenever  $\|A\|_e < \|A\|$ . Indeed, the hypothesis implies that  $\|A^*A\|_e < \|A^*A\| = \|A\|^2$ . Hence  $\sigma(A^*A) \cap \{r \in \mathbb{R} : r > \|A^*A\|_e\}$  consists of isolated eigenvalues of  $A^*A$ , and since  $A^*A$  is positive there must be a nonzero vector  $x \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $A^*Ax = \|A\|^2x$ . Then  $\|Ax\| = \|A\| \|x\|$ . Clouâtre and Davidson further observed that for the Drury-Arveson space multipliers  $\varphi$  that are multiplier norm limits of polynomials have the property that  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} = \|M_{\varphi}\|_e$ . We will now show that the argument generalizes to many other spaces, and it leads to regularity conditions on  $\varphi$  that will be sufficient for  $\varphi$  to be subinner.

Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ . A regular unitarily invariant space is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  whose kernel is of the form

(14.1) 
$$k_w(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \langle z, w \rangle^n,$$

where  $a_0 = 1, a_n > 0$  for all n and  $\frac{a_n}{a_{n+1}} \to 1$ . It is well-known that a lemma of Kaluza's can be used to show that  $k_w(z)$  will be a normalized complete Pick kernel, whenever  $\frac{a_n}{a_{n+1}}$  is non-increasing, see e.g. [2, Lemma 7.38].

If  $f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n$  is the expansion of f into homogeneous polynomials of degree n, then the norm  $\mathcal{H}$  is given by

$$||f||^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{||f_n||_{H_d^2}^2}{a_n}.$$

A one-parameter family of regular unitarily invariant spaces on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  is given by the reproducing kernels

$$k_w^{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)^{-\alpha} \langle z, w \rangle^n, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We denote the corresponding Hilbert spaces by  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ .

An application of Kaluza's lemma shows that  $k^{\alpha}$  is a complete Pick kernel, whenever  $\alpha \geq 0$ .

A related one-parameter family of reproducing kernels on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  is given by

$$\tilde{k}_w^{\alpha}(z) = \frac{1}{(1 - \langle z, w \rangle)^{1-\alpha}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n(\alpha) \langle z, w \rangle^n, \alpha < 1.$$

We will write  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$  for the corresponding space of analytic functions. The binomial series shows that

$$c_n(\alpha) = \frac{\prod_{k=1}^n (k - \alpha)}{n!}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Thus, another application of Kaluza's Lemma implies that  $\tilde{k}^{\alpha}$  is a normalized complete Pick kernel, whenever  $0 \leq \alpha < 1$ . Furthermore, by Gauss's formula for the Gamma function we have for all  $\alpha < 1$ 

$$(14.2) \qquad 0 < \Gamma(1-\alpha) = (-\alpha)\Gamma(-\alpha)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{n!(n+1)^{-\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)(2-\alpha)\cdots(n-\alpha)}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(n+1)^{-\alpha}}{c_n(\alpha)},$$

see e.g. [18] page 178. This implies that for all  $\alpha < 1$  we have  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  with equivalence of norms.

It is well-known that for  $\alpha < -d+1$ , the norm of  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$  is a weighted Bergman norm,

$$||f||_{\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}}^2 = c_{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{B}_d} |f(z)|^2 (1 - |z|^2)^{-d-\alpha} dV(z).$$

Here V is used to denote Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  and  $c_{\alpha}$  is a normalization constant chosen so that  $\|1\|_{\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}}^2 = 1$ , see e.g. [66], Theorem 2.2.

Particular examples are the Drury-Arveson space  $H_d^2 = \mathcal{D}_0 = \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_0$ , and for d = 1 we have  $D = \mathcal{D}_1$ , the Dirichlet space. We also have  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{1-d} = H^2(\partial \mathbb{B}_d)$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{-d} = L_a^2(dV)$ , the unweighted Bergman space, all with equality of norms.

Now let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a regular unitarily invariant space. The polynomials are multipliers of  $\mathcal{H}$ , so we may define  $A(\mathcal{H})$  to be the norm closure of the polynomials inside of  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Furthermore, we write  $C^*(A(\mathcal{H}))$  for the  $C^*$ -algebra generated in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  by  $\{M_{\varphi} : \varphi \in A(\mathcal{H})\}$ , and we use  $K(\mathcal{H})$  to denote the compact operators in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ .

For us the significance of being a regular unitarily invariant is that, just like in the Hardy space, we have a short exact sequence of  $C^*$ -algebras

$$(14.3) 0 \to K(\mathcal{H}) \to C^*(A(\mathcal{H})) \to C(\partial \mathbb{B}_d) \to 0,$$

where the second map is the inclusion and the third map is the unital \*-homomorphism that takes a function in  $A(\mathcal{H})$  to its boundary values; see [30, Theorem 4.6]. It particular, this implies that  $M_{\varphi}$  is essentially normal and the essential norm satisfies  $||M_{\varphi}||_e = ||\varphi||_{\infty}$ , whenever  $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{H})$ . Thus, by the discussion at the beginning of the section, a multiplier  $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{H})$  will be subinner, whenever  $||\varphi||_{\infty} < ||\varphi||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$ .

In order to be able to consider multipliers that may not be in  $A(\mathcal{H})$  we use a second condition. We say that the one-function Corona Theorem holds for  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ , if whenever  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  with  $|\varphi(z)| \geq c > 0$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$ , then  $1/\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . It is known that the one-function Corona Theorem holds for  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_\alpha)$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . For  $\alpha \leq 1-d$  this is trivial since  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_\alpha) = H^\infty(\mathbb{B}_d)$  in this case, and for  $\alpha \geq 0$  it is a consequence of the full Corona Theorem, see [19]. For a proof of just the one-function Corona Theorem see [25]  $(\alpha = 0)$  and [57], Theorem 5.4 for all  $\alpha < 1$ . By use of Corollary 3.4 of [6] one can extend the proof of [57] to cover all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . For an example of a regular unitarily invariant Pick kernel that does not satisfy the one-function Corona Theorem see [4].

If  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  satisfies the one-function Corona Theorem, then one easily shows that  $\sigma(M_{\varphi}) = \overline{\varphi(\mathbb{B}_d)}$  for every  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$ . Thus, if  $M_{\varphi}$  is essentially normal, then its essential norm equals its essential spectral radius which is dominated by the spectral radius. For such multipliers we thus obtain  $\|M_{\varphi}\|_e = r_e(M_{\varphi}) \leq r(M_{\varphi}) = \|\varphi\|_{\infty}$ .

Hence we have proved the following Proposition.

**Proposition 14.1.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a regular unitarily invariant space, let  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  and suppose that  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$ . If either

- $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{H})$  or
- Mult( $\mathcal{H}$ ) satisfies the one-function Corona theorem and  $M_{\varphi}$  is essentially normal,

then  $\varphi$  is subinner, i.e.  $M_{\varphi}$  attains its norm.

The following result is well-known; see [62, Example 1, p. 99] for d = 1 and [45, Theorem 4.1] for  $d \ge 1$ . Since we do not have a convenient reference for the proof, we sketch an argument that uses reproducing kernels.

**Lemma 14.2.** Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ . If  $\alpha > 1$ , then  $A(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}) = \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}) = \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  with equivalence of norms.

*Proof.* It suffices to show  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ . Since polynomials are dense in  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ , it then follows that  $A(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}) = \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ .

Clearly, there is a contractive inclusion  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_a) \subset \mathcal{D}_a$ . To show a continuous inclusion in the other direction, let  $a_n = (n+1)^{-\alpha}$ . The argument in [62, Example 1, p. 99] shows that there exists  $C \geq 0$  such that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{a_k a_{n-k}}{a_n} \le C^2 \quad \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

from which it follows that

$$(14.4) C^2 k^{\alpha} - (k^{\alpha})^2 \ge 0,$$

meaning that this function is positive definite. Now, if  $f \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  with  $||f|| \leq 1$ , then

$$k_w^{\alpha}(z) - f(z)\overline{f(w)} \ge 0.$$

Multplying by  $k^{\alpha}$ , using the Schur product theorem and (14.4), it follows that

$$k_w^{\alpha}(z)(C^2 - f(z)\overline{f(w)}) \ge 0,$$

so f is a multiplier of multiplier norm at most C.

We obtain the following consequence for subinner functions in  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha > 1$ .

**Theorem 14.3.** If  $\alpha > 1$ , then  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  is subinner, if and only if  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})} = 1$ .

Proof. It is clear that subinner functions must have multiplier norm equal to 1. Let  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})} = 1$ . If  $\varphi$  is constant, then it clearly must be subinner, thus we assume that  $\varphi$  is not constant. Since  $\alpha > 1$  we note that  $\sup_{|z| < 1} \|k_z^{\alpha}\| < \infty$ , and this implies that every function  $f \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  is bounded. Hence Proposition 4.7 of [61] (see also Lemma 14.5 below) implies  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})}$ . Thus, by Proposition 14.1 and Lemma 14.2 we conclude that  $\varphi$  is subinner.

**Theorem 14.4.** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a reproducing kernel Hilbert space with a normalized complete Pick kernel. If  $\mathcal{H}$  contains an unbounded function, then there is  $\psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $\|\psi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$ , but  $\psi$  is not subinner.

Serra had already proved that if a reproducing kernel Hilbert space with normalized complete Pick kernel contains an unbounded function, then there are functions in  $\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} = \|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{H})}$ , [61]. The proof of our theorem provides an alternate approach to that result.

Proof. Let  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ , ||f|| = 1 and assume that f is unbounded. By Theorem 1.1 of [5] there are  $\varphi, \psi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $||\psi h||^2 + ||\varphi h||^2 \le ||h||^2$  for all  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $f = \varphi/(1 - \psi)$ . Since  $\varphi$  is bounded, we see that the unboundedness of f implies that there are points  $z_n$  such that  $\psi(z_n) \to 1$ . Hence  $1 \le ||\psi||_{\infty} \le ||\psi||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} \le 1$ . Thus,  $||\psi||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H})} = 1$  and it is not column extreme, hence by Corollary 1.7 it cannot be subinner.

In order to obtain a sufficient condition for being subinner we start by proving a lemma.

**Lemma 14.5.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_k$  be a reproducing kernel Hilbert space of holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  with reproducing kernel k, which is normalized at 0. If  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)$  is not constant, if  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} = 1$ , and if

$$\liminf_{|z|\to 1} (1 - |\varphi(z)|^2) ||k_z||^2 < \frac{1 - |\varphi(0)|}{1 + |\varphi(0)|},$$

then  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\mathrm{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)}$ .

Note that the lemma also implies Proposition 4.7 of [61] that was used in the proof of Theorem 14.3.

*Proof.* By the hypothesis we may choose  $z_n \in \mathbb{B}_d$  such that  $|z_n| \to 1$  and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} (1-|\varphi(z_n)|^2) ||k_{z_n}||^2 < \frac{1-|\varphi(0)|}{1+|\varphi(0)|}$ . Note that since  $\varphi$  is not constant, we have  $|\varphi(0)| < 1$ .

We know that  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \leq \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)}$ , so suppose that  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)} = 1$ . Then for any  $z, w \in \mathbb{B}_d$  the corresponding  $2 \times 2$  Pick matrix is positive semidefinite. For w = 0,  $z = z_n$  this is easily seen to be equivalent to

$$(1 - |\varphi(z_n)|^2)(1 - |\varphi(0)|^2)||k_{z_n}||^2 \ge |1 - \overline{\varphi(0)}\varphi(z_n)|^2.$$

This implies

$$(1 - |\varphi(z_n)|^2) ||k_{z_n}||^2 \ge \frac{|1 - \overline{\varphi(0)}\varphi(z_n)|^2}{1 - |\varphi(0)|^2} \ge \frac{1 - |\varphi(0)|}{1 + |\varphi(0)|}.$$

This contradicts the hypothesis, hence we conclude  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < \|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_k)}$ .

We note that the proof of the Lemma shows that the hypothesis implies that what has been called the "2-point multiplier norm of  $\varphi$ " is strictly larger than  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty}=1$ , see [8]. For the Drury-Arveson space it turns out that the 2-point multiplier norm equals the  $H^{\infty}$ -norm, hence the lemma cannot be used to construct examples of subinner functions in the Drury-Arveson space, see [32, Lemma 3.3].

We will apply the lemma to the spaces  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ , and to  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .

In order to apply Proposition 14.1 and Lemma 14.5 we need to know when multiplication operators are essentially normal. For the Dirichlet space D of the unit disc Lech provided a necessary and sufficient condition for  $M_{\varphi}$  to be essentially normal, see [38]. He proved that if  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(D)$ , then  $M_{\varphi}$  acts as an essentially normal operator on D, if and only if  $M_{\varphi'}: D \to L_a^2$  is compact. Then one can for example obtain a simple sufficient condition by calculating the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of  $M_{\varphi'}$ , see the paper by Brown and Shields [14], top of page 303. If d > 1, then not even the constant function 1 yields a Hilbert-Schmidt multiplication operator  $\mathcal{D}_1 \to \mathcal{D}_{-1}$ , but a condition analogous to the Brown-Shields condition turns out to be sufficient for an essentially normal multiplier.

If  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , then the following lemma together with equation (14.2) will show that for  $f \in \operatorname{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  the multiplication operator  $M_f$  acts essentially normally on  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ , if and only if it is essentially normal on  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$ . In the following we write  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{H})$  to denote multiplication by  $\varphi$  as it acts on  $\mathcal{H}$ .

**Lemma 14.6.** Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $a = \{a_n\}$  and  $b = \{b_n\}$  be sequences of positive real numbers that determine regular unitarily invariant spaces  $\mathcal{H}_a$  and  $\mathcal{H}_b$  on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  with kernels  $k^a$  and  $k^b$  defined by (14.1). If

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{a_n} = c > 0,$$

then  $\mathcal{H}_a = \mathcal{H}_b$  with equivalent norms and if  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_a) = \text{Mult}(\mathcal{H}_b)$ , then  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{H}_a)$  is essentially normal, if and only if  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{H}_b)$  is essentially normal.

*Proof.* It is clear that the hypothesis implies that the spaces coincide and the norms are equivalent. Write  $T_x = (M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{H}_x)$  for x = a and x = b. Let  $S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_a, \mathcal{H}_b)$  be defined by  $Sf = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{a_n} f_n$ , where  $f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n$  is the homogeneous expansion of f. Then the hypothesis implies that S is invertible and  $Sk_w^a = k_w^b$  holds for all  $w \in \mathbb{B}_d$ .

Then we have

$$T_b^* S k_w^a = \overline{\varphi(w)} k_w^b = S T_a^* k_w^a$$

for all  $w \in \mathbb{B}_d$ . This implies that  $T_b^*S = ST_a^*$ . Note that  $Uf = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\sqrt{a_n}}{\sqrt{b_n}} f_n$  is a Hilbert space isomorphism  $\mathcal{H}_b \to \mathcal{H}_a$  and we have  $(UT_b^*U^*)(US) = UST_a^*$ . The lemma now follows from the fact that  $US \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_a)$  is of the form  $US = \sqrt{c}I + K$  for some compact operator K.

If  $f \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathbb{B}_d)$ , then we write  $f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n$  for the expansion of f into homogeneous polynomials. We define the spaces

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{0} = \{ f \in \text{Hol}(\mathbb{B}_{d}) : \|f\|_{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{0}}^{2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)^{\alpha} \log(n+2) \|f_{n}\|_{H_{d}^{2}}^{2} < \infty \}.$$

We will only need the cases where  $\alpha \in \{\pm 1\}$ . Let  $R = \sum_{i=1}^d z_i \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$  be the radial derivative operator,  $Rf = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nf_n$ .

**Lemma 14.7.** (a)  $(\alpha = 1)$  There is c > 0 such that

$$||gRf||_{\mathcal{D}_{-1}} \le c||f||_{\mathcal{D}_1^0} ||g||_{\mathcal{D}_1}$$

for all  $g \in \mathcal{D}_1, f \in \mathcal{D}_1^0$ .

(b) If  $\alpha < 1$ , then there is c > 0 such that

$$||gRf||_{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha-2}} \le c||f||_{\mathcal{D}_1}||g||_{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}}$$

for all  $q \in \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ ,  $f \in \mathcal{D}_{1}$ .

*Proof.* (a) Note that  $\mathcal{D}_{-1}^0$  has reproducing kernel

$$k_w^{(-1,0)}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{n+1}{\log(n+2)} \langle z, w \rangle^n,$$

and, of course, for  $\alpha \in \{\pm 1\}$  the space  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$  has reproducing kernel Let  $f \in \mathcal{D}_1^0$  with  $||f||_{\mathcal{D}_1^0} \leq 1$ . Then  $||Rf||_{\mathcal{D}_{-1}^0} \leq 1$  and that is equiva-

lent to

$$k_w^{(-1,0)}(z) - Rf(z)\overline{Rf(w)} \ge 0.$$

We now multiply that inequality by  $k_w^1(z)$  and apply the Schur product theorem to conclude that

$$k_w^{(-1,0)}(z)k_w^1(z) - Rf(z)\overline{Rf(w)}k_w^1(z) \ge 0.$$

Part (a) of the Lemma will follow once we show that there is c > 0such that

$$c^{2}k_{w}^{-1}(z) - k_{w}^{(-1,0)}(z)k_{w}^{1}(z) \ge 0,$$

since adding both inequalites gives that Rf is a multiplier from  $\mathcal{D}_1$  to  $\mathcal{D}_{-1}$  of norm at most c. All three reproducing kernels are power series in  $\langle z, w \rangle$ , hence the last inequality can be verified by showing that all coefficients in the resulting power series are  $\geq 0$ . Hence we have to show that there is c > 0 such that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{n-k+1}{\log(n-k+2)} \le c^{2}(n+1).$$

Thus, we calculate

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{n-k+1}{\log(n-k+2)} \\ &= \sum_{0 \le k \le n/2} \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{n-k+1}{\log(n-k+2)} + \sum_{n/2 < k \le n} \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{n-k+1}{\log(n-k+2)} \\ &\le \sum_{0 \le k \le n/2} \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{n+1}{\log(\frac{n}{2}+2)} + \sum_{n/2 < k \le n} \frac{1}{\log(2)} \\ &\le (1+\log(\frac{n}{2})) \frac{n+1}{\log(\frac{n}{2}+2)} + \frac{n}{2\log 2} \\ &< c^2(n+1). \end{split}$$

This proves (a).

(b) follows similarly noting that for  $\alpha < 1$  we can substitute the spaces  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$  and then use that the reproducing kernels satisfy the identity  $\tilde{k}^{\alpha}\tilde{k}^{-1} = \tilde{k}^{\alpha-2}$ .

We now obtain a sufficient condition for essential normality of multiplication operators.

**Theorem 14.8.** Let  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_d)$ .

- (a) If  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_1^0$ , then  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_1)$  and  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_1)$  is essentially normal.
- (b) If  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_1$ , then for each  $\alpha < 1$ , we have  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}) = \text{Mult}(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha})$  and  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  and  $(M_{\varphi}, \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha})$  are essentially normal.

Proof. We start by discussing the situation when  $\alpha < 1 - d$ . Then  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$  is a weighted Bergman space contained in  $L^2(c_{\alpha}(1-|z|^2)^{-d-\alpha}dV)$  and for  $\varphi \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}_d)$  we have  $M_{\varphi}^*M_{\varphi} - M_{\varphi}M_{\varphi}^* = H_{\overline{\varphi}}^*H_{\overline{\varphi}}$ , where  $H_{\overline{\varphi}} = (I - P_{\alpha})M_{\overline{\varphi}}|\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$  is the big Hankel operator with symbol  $\overline{\varphi}$ . Here we used  $P_{\alpha}$  to denote the orthogonal projection of  $L^2(c_{\alpha}(1-|z|^2)^{-d-\alpha}dV)$  onto  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha}$ . It is known that  $H_{\overline{\varphi}}$  is compact, if and only if  $\varphi$  is in the little Bloch space, i.e. if  $\lim_{|z|\to 1}(1-|z|^2)|R\varphi(z)|=0$ , see [65, Corollary 24].

Next we note that for  $f \in \mathcal{D}_1$  and  $z \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we have  $(1-|z|^2)|Rf(z)| \le ||Rf||_{\mathcal{D}_{-1}} \le ||f||_{\mathcal{D}_1}$  by a standard estimate for point evaluations. Hence if  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_1$ , and if  $\varphi_r(z) = \varphi(rz)$  for 0 < r < 1, then

$$\limsup_{|z|\to 1} (1-|z|^2)|R\varphi(z)| = \limsup_{|z|\to 1} (1-|z|^2)|R(\varphi-\varphi_r)(z)|$$
  
$$\leq \|\varphi-\varphi_r\|_{\mathcal{D}_1} \to 0 \text{ as } r\to 1.$$

Hence  $\varphi$  is in the little Bloch space, and thus the hypotheses in (a) and (b) both imply that  $(M_{\varphi}, \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\alpha})$  is essentially normal for all  $\alpha < 1 - d$ .

Then by Lemma 14.6 the same is true for  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ ,  $\alpha < 1 - d$ , and from now on we will just consider the case of  $(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$ .

Fix  $\alpha \leq 1$ , and observe that for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  the operator R + I is unitary from  $\mathcal{D}_t$  onto  $\mathcal{D}_{t-2}$ . Furthermore, the product rule implies that  $(R+I)(M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_t) = (M_{\varphi}, \mathcal{D}_{t-2})(R+I) + M_{R\varphi}^t$ , where  $M_{R\varphi}^t : \mathcal{D}_t \to \mathcal{D}_{t-2}$ ,  $f \to (R\varphi)f$ . Thus, an easy induction argument implies that both parts (a) and (b) of the lemma follow, if we show that the hypotheses imply that  $M_{R\varphi}^t$  is compact for all  $t \leq \alpha$ .

(a) Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_1^0$ . Lemma 14.7 implies that  $M_{R\varphi}^1 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{D}_1, \mathcal{D}_{-1})$ . Note that for r < 1 the operator  $R\varphi_r$  is a multiplier of  $\mathcal{D}_1$  into itself. Since  $d < \infty$  the inclusion  $\mathcal{D}_1 \to \mathcal{D}_{-1}$  is compact, hence  $M_{R\varphi_r}^1$  is compact. By Lemma 14.7 again there is c > 0 such that for all  $0 \le r < 1$  we have  $\|M_{R\varphi}^1 - M_{R\varphi_r}^1\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{D}_1, \mathcal{D}_{-1})} \le c\|\varphi - \varphi_r\|_{\mathcal{D}_1^0}$ . It is clear that  $\|\varphi - \varphi_r\|_{\mathcal{D}_1^0} \to 0$ , hence  $M_{R\varphi}^1$  is a norm limit of compact operators and hence it is compact as well.

In order to finish the proof of (a) and to prove (b) it suffices to show that  $M_{R\varphi}^t$  is compact for all t < 1, whenever  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_1$ . The proof is similar to the one just given, except that we substitute the use of Lemma 14.7 (b), where we had used part (a) of that same lemma.

If  $0 < \beta \le 1$ , then we write  $\text{Lip}\beta$  for the holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  that satisfy a Lipschitz condition of order  $\beta$ , and we write  $\text{lip}\beta$  for those  $f \in \text{Lip}\beta$  that satisfy

$$\lim_{|z-w| \to 0} \frac{|f(z) - f(w)|}{|z - w|^{\beta}} = 0.$$

We also let  $\mathbb{A}(\mathbb{B}_d)$  denote the ball algebra, i.e. the algebra of all holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{B}_d$  that extend to be continuous on  $\overline{\mathbb{B}_d}$ .

### Theorem 14.9. Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ .

(a) If  $0 < \alpha < 1$  and  $\varphi \in \text{lip}(1 - \alpha) \cap \mathcal{D}_1$ , then  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  and  $\varphi$  is subinner if and only if  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})} = 1$ .

(b)  $(\alpha = 1)$  If  $\varphi \in \mathbb{A}(\mathbb{B}_d) \cap \mathcal{D}_1^0$  and such that  $\lim_{r \to 1} \log \frac{1}{1-r} |\varphi(z) - \varphi(rz)| = 0$  for all  $z \in \partial \mathbb{B}_d$ . Then  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_1)$  and  $\varphi$  is subinner if and only if  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_1)} = 1$ .

By Lemma 14.6 it is clear that a similar theorem holds for  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ ,  $0 < \alpha < 1$ . We also note that for  $\alpha = 0$  (the Drury-Arveson space) no direct analogue of this theorem can hold. Indeed, the function  $\varphi(z) = \frac{1+z_1}{2}$  is a polynomial of multiplier norm 1 that is not subinner in  $\mathcal{D}_0 = H_d^2$ .

*Proof.* (a) The Lipschitz condition implies that  $\varphi \in \mathbb{A}(\mathbb{B}_d)$ , hence Theorem 14.8 (b) implies that  $\varphi \in \text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})$  and  $M_{\varphi}$  is essentially normal.

Suppose  $\|\varphi\|_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})} = 1$ . The assertion is trivial if  $\varphi$  is constant, so we assume that  $\varphi$  is non-constant. Then by Proposition 14.1 and the one function Corona theorem for  $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}$ , it suffices to show that  $\|\varphi\|_{\infty} < 1$ .

The regularity assumption on  $\varphi$  implies that the function  $\psi = \varphi/\|\varphi\|_{\infty}$  extends to be continuous on  $\overline{\mathbb{B}}_d$ . Suppose that  $|\psi|$  attains its maximum 1 at  $w \in \partial \mathbb{B}_d$ , then for  $z = rw \in \mathbb{B}_d$  we have

$$(1 - |\psi(z)|^2) ||k_z||^2 \le 2|\psi(w) - \psi(rw)| ||k_{rw}||^2$$

$$\lesssim \frac{|\varphi(w) - \varphi(rw)|}{|w - rw|^{1-\alpha}} \to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 1,$$

where we used that  $||k_{rw}||^2 \approx 1/(1-r)^{1-\alpha}$ . Thus, Lemma 14.5 implies that  $||\varphi||_{\infty} < ||\varphi||_{\text{Mult}(\mathcal{D}_{\alpha})} = 1$ .

The proof of (b) is similar, it relies on Lemma 14.8 (a).

Note that in conjunction with Example 10.3 the theorem shows that for every  $|\lambda| \geq \sqrt{2}$  the function  $(z - \lambda)/\|z - \lambda\|_{\text{Mult}(D)}$  is both subinner and free outer in the Dirichlet space D.

### References

- [1] Jim Agler and John E. McCarthy. Complete Nevanlinna-Pick kernels. *J. Funct. Anal.*, 175(1):111–124, 2000.
- [2] Jim Agler and John E. McCarthy. *Pick interpolation and Hilbert function spaces*, volume 44 of *Graduate Studies in Mathematics*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2002.
- [3] A. Aleman, S. Richter, and C. Sundberg. Beurling's theorem for the Bergman space. *Acta Math.*, 177(2):275–310, 1996.
- [4] Alexandru Aleman, Michael Hartz, John E. McCarthy, and Stefan Richter. The Smirnov class for spaces with the complete Pick property. *J. Lond. Math. Soc.* (2), 96(1):228–242, 2017.
- [5] Alexandru Aleman, Michael Hartz, John E. McCarthy, and Stefan Richter. Factorizations induced by complete Nevanlinna-Pick factors. *Adv. Math.*, 335:372–404, 2018.
- [6] Alexandru Aleman, Michael Hartz, John E. McCarthy, and Stefan Richter. Radially weighted Besov spaces and the Pick property. In *Analysis of operators on function spaces*, Trends Math., pages 29–61. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2019.
- [7] Alexandru Aleman, Michael Hartz, John E. McCarthy, and Stefan Richter. Weak products of complete Pick spaces. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 70(1):325–352, 2021.
- [8] Alexandru Aleman, Michael Hartz, John E. McCarthy, and Stefan Richter. Multiplier tests and subhomogeneity of multiplier algebras. *Doc. Math.*, to appear. arXiv:2008.00981.
- [9] Alexandru Aleman, Stefan Richter, and Carl Sundberg. Nontangential limits in  $P^t(\mu)$ -spaces and the index of invariant subspaces. Ann. of Math. (2), 169(2):449–490, 2009.

- [10] Nicola Arcozzi, Richard Rochberg, Eric Sawyer, and Brett D. Wick. Bilinear forms on the Dirichlet space. *Anal. PDE*, 3(1):21–47, 2010.
- [11] Alvaro Arias and Gelu Popescu. Factorization and reflexivity on Fock spaces. Integral Equations Operator Theory, 23(3):268–286, 1995.
- [12] Joseph A. Ball, Tavan T. Trent, and Victor Vinnikov. Interpolation and commutant lifting for multipliers on reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces. In Operator theory and analysis (Amsterdam, 1997), volume 122 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 89–138. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001.
- [13] Alexander Borichev and Håkan Hedenmalm. Harmonic functions of maximal growth: invertibility and cyclicity in Bergman spaces. *J. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 10(4):761–796, 1997.
- [14] Leon Brown and Allen L. Shields. Cyclic vectors in the Dirichlet space. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 285(1):269–303, 1984.
- [15] Lennart Carleson. A representation formula for the Dirichlet integral. Math. Z., 73:190–196, 1960.
- [16] Raphaël Clouâtre and Kenneth R. Davidson. Duality, convexity and peak interpolation in the Drury-Arveson space. *Adv. Math.*, 295:90–149, 2016.
- [17] R. R. Coifman, R. Rochberg, and Guido Weiss. Factorization theorems for Hardy spaces in several variables. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 103(3):611–635, 1976.
- [18] John B. Conway. Functions of one complex variable, volume 11 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, second edition, 1978.
- [19] Şerban Costea, Eric T. Sawyer, and Brett D. Wick. The corona theorem for the Drury-Arveson Hardy space and other holomorphic Besov-Sobolev spaces on the unit ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Anal. PDE, 4(4):499–550, 2011.
- [20] Kenneth R. Davidson and Ryan Hamilton. Nevanlinna-Pick interpolation and factorization of linear functionals. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 70(1):125–149, 2011.
- [21] Kenneth R. Davidson and Trieu Le. Commutant lifting for commuting row contractions. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.*, 42(3):506–516, 2010.
- [22] Kenneth R. Davidson and David R. Pitts. Invariant subspaces and hyper-reflexivity for free semigroup algebras. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3), 78(2):401–430, 1999.
- [23] Peter Duren and Alexander Schuster. Bergman spaces, volume 100 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004.
- [24] Omar El-Fallah, Karim Kellay, Javad Mashreghi, and Thomas Ransford. *A primer on the Dirichlet space*, volume 203 of *Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014.
- [25] Quanlei Fang and Jingbo Xia. Corrigendum to "Multipliers and essential norm on the Drury-Arveson space". *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 141(1):363–368, 2013.
- [26] Arthur E. Frazho. Complements to models for noncommuting operators. *J. Funct. Anal.*, 59(3):445–461, 1984.
- [27] Theodore W. Gamelin. *Uniform algebras*. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1969.
- [28] John B. Garnett. Bounded analytic functions, volume 96 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York-London, 1981.

- [29] Devin C. V. Greene, Stefan Richter, and Carl Sundberg. The structure of inner multipliers on spaces with complete Nevanlinna-Pick kernels. J. Funct. Anal., 194(2):311–331, 2002.
- [30] Kunyu Guo, Junyun Hu, and Xianmin Xu. Toeplitz algebras, subnormal tuples and rigidity on reproducing  $\mathbf{C}[z_1,\ldots,z_d]$ -modules. J. Funct. Anal., 210(1):214–247, 2004.
- [31] Michael Hartz. Every complete Pick space satisfies the column-row property. *Acta Math.*, to appear. arXiv:2005.09614.
- [32] Michael Hartz, Stefan Richter, and Orr Shalit. von Neumann's inequality for row contractive matrix tuples. *Math. Z.*, to appear. arXiv:2109.08550.
- [33] Haakan Hedenmalm, Boris Korenblum, and Kehe Zhu. *Theory of Bergman spaces*, volume 199 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York 2000
- [34] Håkan Hedenmalm, Stefan Jakobsson, and Sergei Shimorin. A maximum principle à la Hadamard for biharmonic operators with applications to the Bergman spaces. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 328(11):973–978, 1999.
- [35] Michael T. Jury and Robert T. W. Martin. Extremal multipliers of the Drury-Arveson space. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 146(10):4293–4306, 2018.
- [36] Michael T. Jury and Robert T. W. Martin. Factorization in weak products of complete Pick spaces. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.*, 51(2):223–229, 2019.
- [37] Michael T. Jury and Robert T. W. Martin. The Smirnov classes for the Fock space and complete Pick spaces. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 70(1):269–284, 2021.
- [38] Jaroslaw Lech. Essentially normal multiplication operators on the Dirichlet space. *Michigan Math. J.*, 42(1):127–140, 1995.
- [39] Shuaibing Luo and Stefan Richter. Hankel operators and invariant subspaces of the Dirichlet space. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 91(2):423–438, 2015.
- [40] Scott McCullough. Carathéodory interpolation kernels. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 15(1):43–71, 1992.
- [41] Scott McCullough. The local de Branges-Rovnyak construction and complete Nevanlinna-Pick kernels. In *Algebraic methods in operator theory*, pages 15–24. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1994.
- [42] Scott McCullough and Stefan Richter. Bergman-type reproducing kernels, contractive divisors, and dilations. J. Funct. Anal., 190(2):447–480, 2002.
- [43] Scott McCullough and Tavan T. Trent. Invariant subspaces and Nevanlinna-Pick kernels. *J. Funct. Anal.*, 178(1):226–249, 2000.
- [44] Nikolai K. Nikolski. Treatise on the shift operator, volume 273 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986. Spectral function theory, With an appendix by S. V. Khrushchëv and V. V. Peller, Translated from the Russian by Jaak Peetre.
- [45] Joaquín Ortega and Joan Fàbrega. Multipliers in Hardy-Sobolev spaces. *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 55(4):535–560, 2006.
- [46] Gelu Popescu. Isometric dilations for infinite sequences of noncommuting operators. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 316(2):523–536, 1989.
- [47] Gelu Popescu. Multi-analytic operators and some factorization theorems. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 38(3):693–710, 1989.
- [48] Gelu Popescu. Multi-analytic operators on Fock spaces. *Math. Ann.*, 303(1):31-46, 1995.

- [49] Gelu Popescu. Free holomorphic functions on the unit ball of  $B(H)^n$ . J. Funct. Anal., 241(1):268–333, 2006.
- [50] Gelu Popescu. Free holomorphic functions on the unit ball of  $B(\mathcal{H})^n$ . II. J. Funct. Anal., 258(5):1513–1578, 2010.
- [51] Peter Quiggin. For which reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces is Pick's theorem true? *Integral Equations Operator Theory*, 16(2):244–266, 1993.
- [52] R. Michael Range. Holomorphic functions and integral representations in several complex variables, volume 108 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [53] Stefan Richter. Invariant subspaces of the Dirichlet shift. *J. Reine Angew. Math.*, 386:205–220, 1988.
- [54] Stefan Richter and Carl Sundberg. A formula for the local Dirichlet integral. Michigan Math. J., 38(3):355–379, 1991.
- [55] Stefan Richter and Carl Sundberg. Invariant subspaces of the Dirichlet shift and pseudocontinuations. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 341(2):863–879, 1994.
- [56] Stefan Richter and Carl Sundberg. Weak products of Dirichlet functions. J. Funct. Anal., 266(8):5270–5299, 2014.
- [57] Stefan Richter and James Sunkes. Hankel operators, invariant subspaces, and cyclic vectors in the Drury-Arveson space. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 144(6):2575–2586, 2016.
- [58] Stefan Richter and Faruk Yilmaz. Regularity for generators of invariant subspaces of the Dirichlet shift. J. Funct. Anal., 277(7):2117–2132, 2019.
- [59] Guy Salomon, Orr M. Shalit, and Eli Shamovich. Algebras of bounded non-commutative analytic functions on subvarieties of the noncommutative unit ball. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 370(12):8639–8690, 2018.
- [60] Donald Sarason. Generalized interpolation in  $H^{\infty}$ . Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 127:179–203, 1967.
- [61] António Serra. Multipliers of minimal norm on Dirichlet type spaces. J. Operator Theory, 52(2):293–302, 2004.
- [62] Allen L. Shields. Weighted shift operators and analytic function theory. In Topics in operator theory, pages 49–128. Math. Surveys, No. 13. Amer. Math. Soc., 1974.
- [63] S. M. Shimorin. On a family of conformally invariant operators. *Algebra i Analiz*, 7(2):133–158, 1995.
- [64] S. M. Shimorin. Approximate spectral synthesis in the Bergman space. *Duke Math. J.*, 101(1):1–39, 2000.
- [65] Kehe Zhu. BMO and Hankel operators on Bergman spaces. *Pacific J. Math.*, 155(2):377–395, 1992.
- [66] Kehe Zhu. Spaces of holomorphic functions in the unit ball, volume 226 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2005.

Lund University, Mathematics, Faculty of Science, P.O. Box 118, S-221 00 Lund, Sweden

Email address: alexandru.aleman@math.lu.se

Fachrichtung Mathematik, Universität des Saarlandes, 66123 Saarbrücken, Germany

Email address: hartz@math.uni-sb.de

Department of Mathematics, Washington University in St. Louis, One Brookings Drive, St. Louis, MO 63130, USA

Email address: mccarthy@wustl.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF TENNESSEE, 1403 CIRCLE DRIVE, KNOXVILLE, TN 37996-1320, USA

Email address: srichter@utk.edu